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Sustainability and corporate governance report
Sustainability
Introduction
The directors of Capricorn are pleased to present the Company’s first integrated sustainability and corporate governance report
to stakeholders. This is the first step in what will be a continuous process to move closer to the goals of sustainable
development and to demonstrate Capricorn’s commitment to those goals. As can be expected this is a major task and for this
reason Capricorn has decided to adopt a staggered approach. Over the next few years the board will strive to broaden and
deepen the contents of this report. This will be done in conjunction with the Company’s stakeholders to ensure that meaningful,
understandable and useful information is available on a timely basis, thereby achieving true transparency and facilitating the
building of a trusted relationship with all stakeholders.
Corporate Governance
Introduction
The Company endorses the principles contained in the King III report on corporate governance and confirms its commitment to
the principles of fairness, accountability, responsibility and transparency as advocated therein. The board strives to ensure that
the Company is being ethically managed according to prudently determined risk parameters and in compliance with generally
accepted corporate practices and conduct.
The Board
Capricorn retains a unitary board structure. The board consists of four non-executive directors and two executive directors. The
board is assisted in fulfilling its duties by a Combined Audit and Risk Committee (CARC) and a Combined Remuneration and
Nomination Committee. The non-executive directors are of sufficient calibre for their views to carry significant weight in the
board’s decisions. The directors of the Company are set out on pages 6 and 7.
The board, which is chaired by an independent non-executive chairman, is scheduled to sit at least four times a year, but meets
more frequently if circumstances require it to do so. During the year under review only one board meeting was held because of
the classification of the Company as a cash shell and the lack of activity as an operating company and because of the need to
focus on negotiating a suitable acquisition of assets that meet the criteria for listing on the Johannesburg Stock Exchange – this
was important in order to lift the suspension of the trading of the Company’s shares. Two board and two CARC meetings were
held subsequent to year-end and up to the date of this report.
The board of directors discloses the number of meetings held each year in the Annual Report of the Company, together with the
attendance of the directors at such meetings. A formal record is kept of all conclusions reached by the board on matters
referred to it for discussion. Where the board requires independent professional advice procedures have been put in place by
the board for such advice to be sought at the Company’s expense.
Directors are expected to maintain their independence when deciding on matters relating to strategy, performance, resources
and standards of conduct. After appointment, all directors are provided with information on the business and are expected to
familiarise themselves with the Company’s strategic plans and objectives, and other relevant laws and regulations. Up to the
date of this report, the focus of the directors was on acquiring new assets in order to meet the JSE Limited’s Listings
Requirements for the continued listing of the shares of the Company. Updating and training will be performed on an on-going
basis to ensure that directors remain abreast of changes in regulations and the commercial environment.
The board is responsible for relations with stakeholders, as well as being accountable to them for the performance of the
Company, and reporting thereon in a timely and transparent manner.
The board includes both executive and non-executive directors in order to maintain a balance of power and ensure independent
unbiased decisions. The board of directors of Capricorn currently consists of six directors: four of the directors are nonexecutive directors, of which two are independent. The role of one independent non-executive changed to that of non-executive
director after the end of the financial year. In the forthcoming financial year the board of directors will be restructured as part of
the acquisition and reverse-listing in order to fully comply with King III.
Management supplies the board with the relevant information needed to fulfil its duties. Directors make further enquiries where
necessary, and thus have unrestricted access to all Company information, records, documents and property. Not only does the
board look at the quantitative performance of the Company, but also at issues such as customer satisfaction, market share,
environmental performance and other relevant issues. The Chairman or Chief Executive Officer ensures that all directors are
adequately briefed prior to a board meeting.
Directors have the authority to delegate certain of their duties, either externally or internally, in order to perform their duties.
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Sustainability and corporate governance report
At a general meeting of the directors, the directors have the power to appoint a director, either to fill a vacancy, or as an
additional director, provided that the total number of directors shall not at any time exceed the maximum number fixed by the
memorandum of incorporation.
Independence of the Board
The roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are separate. The board is chaired by an independent non-executive
director, Brian Alexander McQueen and the position of Chief Executive Officer is held by James Charles Herbst. The nonexecutive directors are not appointed under service contracts and their remuneration (see note 23) is not linked to the
Company’s financial performance.
The predominance of non-executive directors on the board helps maintain a balance of power and ensure independent
decision-making. The non-executive directors offer independent judgment and there are no extraneous factors that could
materially affect their judgment. If there is an actual or potential conflict of interest, the director (executive or non-executive)
concerned, after declaring his/her interest in terms of the Companies Act, is excluded from the related decision-making process.
Appointment and re-election of the Board
James Charles Herbst is the Chief Executive Officer of the Company. As a result of implementing the acquisition of Western
Utilities Corporation (Proprietary) Limited (“WUC”) and the resulting reverse-listing thereof a change in control will take place as
detailed in the directors report, resulting in most of the existing directors, namely KD Jarvis, BA McQueen and EM Greenblatt,
resigning from the board with effect from 6 March 2012. Accordingly, none of these directors will stand for re-election at the
Annual General Meeting. Mr Charles Pettit, James Herbst and Stephen Tredoux will remain on the board after the acquisition of
WUC. Accordingly, Mr C Pettit’s appointment and Mr J Herbst’s and Mr S Tredoux’s re-appointment is included in the Notice of
Annual General Meeting. Their curriculum vitae are set out on pages 63 and 64. The Company appointed a Combined
Remuneration and Nomination Committee during the year under review. This committee did not meet during the year.
Appointments to the board are currently based on the needs of the Company as assessed from time to time. Consideration is
given when nominating prospective directors to their qualifications. Appointments are made at board level and confirmed by
shareholders in a shareholders meeting.
Role and function of the Board
The memorandum of incorporation of the Company is the charter which governs the directors’ roles and responsibilities. The
board retains full and effective control over the Company, provides strategic direction and delegates certain powers to
management. The day-to-day management of the Company is vested in the executive directors.
The board of directors determines the Company’s purpose and values, ensures that it complies with codes of sound business
practice and has unrestricted right of access to all Company information, records, documents and property and independent
legal advice when required.
The directors recognise that they are responsible for the Company’s system of financial and internal controls. The executive
directors are responsible for identifying, analysing, reporting and managing risk, which forms part of their everyday functions.
To date, no formal evaluation of the board has taken place. However, this will continue to be considered after the acquisition of
WUC.
Board Committees
The Company has two committees: a Combined Audit and Risk Committee and a Combined Remuneration and Nomination
Committee. These committees report to the board of directors.
The Combined Audit and Risk Committee (CARC)
The composition of the CARC consists of two independent non-executive members, namely Kenneth Delroy Jarvis (the
chairman) and Brian Alexander McQueen and one non-executive director, namely Elaine Marsha Greenblatt, which composition
complies with the Companies Act, 2008 (No 71 of 2008). The committee will be restructured after the acquisition of WUC in
order to comply with the King III Report.
The King III Report recommends that the chairman of the board should not be the chairman of the audit committee - the
Company complies with this requirement. The CARC intends to meet at least three times a year and a partner of the external
auditor will be invited to attend meetings. During the year under review and to the date of this report, two CARC meetings were
held. The majority of the members of the CARC are financially literate. The board of directors of Capricorn has unrestricted
access to the CARC.
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The mandate of the CARC provides for, inter alia, the reviewing of financial information, the effectiveness of the internal
controls, considering the expertise and competency of the financial director, the reviewing of the risks relating to the business
and industry, accounting policies, the code of ethics, compliance procedures, auditor independence, audit fees and reporting
thereon to the board. The CARC has approved its responsibilities in terms of this charter.
The expertise and competency of the financial director will be reviewed annually.
The Combined Remuneration and Nomination Committee
The Combined Remuneration and Nomination Committee include three non-executive directors: Brian Alexander McQueen
(chairman), Kenneth Delroy Jarvis and Elaine Marsha Greenblatt.
The committee is responsible for considering the nomination of new directors and the remuneration of the executive directors
and making recommendations to the board in this regard. In determining the remuneration of directors, the committee takes
heed of issues such as market norms, staff retention, the performance of directors, balanced scorecard issues, share incentive
scheme considerations and incentives and has access to outside consultation if necessary. The Chief Executive Officer is also
consulted. The committee intends on meeting at least once a year. During the year under review, given the classification of the
Company as a cash shell and the lack of operating activity, no meeting was held.
Capricorn has not entered into any service contracts with its executive directors nor have the executive directors been
remunerated given the lack of activity of the Company during the year. All non-executive directors are subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election by Capricorn shareholders at least once every three years in accordance with the memorandum of
incorporation. As mentioned above, only the re-appointment of three of the existing directors, who will continue to serve on the
board post the reverse-listing, has been presented to shareholders for approval.
The Company has no share incentive scheme in place.
Board and Committee Meetings and Attendance thereat
The board intends to meet on a regular basis at least every three months. The directors are properly briefed in respect of
special business prior to board meetings and information is timeously provided to them to enable them to give full consideration
to all the issues being considered. The directors do make further enquiries where necessary. Where it is considered
necessary, special sub-committees are formed to address areas of focus.
During and subsequent to the financial year-end, three board meetings and two of the CARC were held. No meeting of the
Combined Remuneration and Nomination Committee was held. Minutes are kept of all board and committee meetings.
The attendances of the directors as at 28 February 2011 for the year under review, taking into account their dates of
appointment, were as follows:
Director / committee

% of board meetings attended

Number of meetings attended (1)

Member
BA McQueen#*^

100%

1/1

KD Jarvis#*^

100%	
  

1/1	
  

S Tredoux#

100%	
  

1/1	
  

E Greenblatt*

100%	
  

1/1	
  

JC Herbst

100%	
  

1/1	
  

C Pettit~

100%	
  

1/1	
  

* Non-Executive, ^ Independent, # appointed 30 November 2010 ~ appointed 19 July 2011
During the year under review, no meeting of the CARC was held.

6 4

Capricorn Investment Holdings Limited

(Registration number 1987/004821/06)
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 28 February 2011

Sustainability and corporate governance report
Subsequent to year end however, two board meetings and two meetings of the CARC were held and the attendance at these
meetings were as follows:
Director / committee
member

% of board meetings
attended

Number of meetings % of audit & risk
attended (2)
committee
meetings
attended

Number of
meetings attended
(2)

BA McQueen*^

100%

2/2

100%

2/2

KD Jarvis*^

100%	
  

2/2	
  

100%	
  

2/2	
  

S Tredoux

100%

2/2

NA

NA

E Greenblatt*

100%

2/2

100%

2/2

JC Herbst

100%

2/2

NA

NA

50%

1/2

NA

NA

C Pettit

* Non-Executive, ^ Independent, NA – not applicable
No meeting of the Combined Remuneration and Nomination Committee was held during the year under review.
All directors, committee members and the chairmen are encouraged to attend the annual general meeting of the Company.
Fees paid to Non-executive Directors
Fees payable to non-executive directors are determined by the executive directors in consultation with the Chairman and are
approved by the board of directors. Once-off fees are proposed to be paid to the existing non-executive directors for services
rendered to 28 February 2012, as follows:
Director

Once Off Director’s Fees

KD Jarvis

R30 000-00

BA McQueen

R30 000-00

SP Tredoux

R30 000-00

The following fees are proposed for the forthcoming financial year, commencing 1 March 2012:

Chairman
Monthly Retainer

R10 000

Other members and members of
committees
R10 000

Details of fees paid to non-executive directors for the year ended 28 February 2011 are detailed in the annual financial
statements.
Interest of Directors and Officers
The register of interests of directors in contracts is available to members of the public on request. A record of the interests
(direct and indirect) of the directors in the Company’s securities, as at 28 February 2011, and the record of directors’ dealings,
during the year under review, is set out in the directors’ report.
Company Secretary
All directors have access to the advice and services of Arcay Client Support (Pty) Ltd, which fulfils the role of Company
Secretary – this office has been filled by them since 30 November 2010. The board is of the opinion that the members of the
management team at Arcay Client Support (Pty) Ltd have the requisite attributes, experience and qualifications to effectively
fulfil the commitments of the Company Secretary. The appointment or dismissal of the Company Secretary is decided by the
board as a whole and not one individual director.
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External Audit and the Audit
The auditor of the Company is Horwath Leveton Boner (“HLB”). HLB performs an independent and objective audit of the
Company’s financial statements. The financial statements are prepared in terms of International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRS”). Interim reports for the six-month period ended 31 August 2011 were reviewed by the HLB. The CARC reviews the
audit fees for the audit. The auditor has unrestricted access to the CARC and is invited to all meetings of the CARC. The reappointment of the auditor or the appointment of a new auditor is considered by the CARC.
The CARC’s primary objective is to ensure that the auditor is considered independent. It is also required to provide the board
with additional assurance regarding the efficacy and reliability of the financial information used by the directors, to assist them in
discharging their duties. The committee is required to provide comfort to the board that adequate and appropriate financial and
operating controls are in place, that significant business, financial and other risks have been identified, and are being suitably
managed, and that satisfactory standards of governance, reporting and compliance are in operation. The committee has set
principles for recommending the use of the external auditor for non-audit services.
No non-audit services were performed by the auditor during the year under review.
independence of the auditor.

The CARC is satisfied as to the

Accounting and Internal Controls
The board is responsible for the Company’s systems of internal financial and operational control, as well as for maintaining an
appropriate relationship with the Company’s auditor. The board is responsible for presenting a balanced and understandable
assessment of the Company’s financial position with respect to all financial and price sensitive reports on the Company.
The board has established controls and procedures to ensure the accuracy and integrity of the accounting records and monitors
the Company’s businesses and its performance. The controls are designed to provide reasonable assurance that assets are
safeguarded from loss or unauthorised use and that the financial records may be relied upon for maintaining accountability for
assets and liabilities and preparing the financial statements.
Audit Opinion and Disclaimed Audit Opinion
The Company received an unqualified audit opinion with an emphasis of matter. The emphasis of matter relates to a reportable
irregularity of the Company as a result of the late finalising of the annual financial statements in terms of the Companies Act and
the JSE Listing Requirements. This reportable irregularity is required with the issue of this Annual Report.
The Company disposed of all its subsidiaries during the year under review. Pursuant to the disposal, the accounting records
were not made available to the Company for the purpose of a group audit. Thus the group results have not been prepared and
have been disclaimed by the auditor. This disclaimer does not have a continuing effect on the Company and the Company’s
results are fairly stated for the year ended 28 February 2011.
The statement of directors’ responsibility is set out on page 14.
Internal Audit
Due to the Company being a cash shell, the executive directors did not conduct an annual review of the Company’s internal
controls. As a result no findings were presented to the CARC. Such a review would normally cover financial, operational and
compliance controls, as well as a review of the risk management policies and procedures of the Company and will be
implemented after the WUC acquisition.
After review of the Company’s internal control processes and consideration of the nature of the Company and lack of activity,
the board did not identify the need to establish a formal internal audit process. This requirement will be continuously monitored.
Non-financial Matters
Capricorn subscribes to the highest ethical standards and behaviour in the conduct of its business and related activities, and
requires total honesty and integrity from its directors and employees. Capricorn expects its shareholders, suppliers and partners
to subscribe to the same high ethical standards.
Communications with Stakeholders
The Company is committed to on-going and effective communication with stakeholders. It subscribes to a policy of open and
timeous communication in line with JSE Limited guidelines, sound corporate governance and is considering an investor
relations programme going forward.
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Employment, Development and Employment Equity
The Company will endeavour to promote a culture that will provide employees with opportunities to advance to optimal levels of
career development once operations in the Company are implemented.
The Company upholds and supports the objectives of the Employment Equity Act and intends implementing various initiatives
that provide opportunities for all levels of staff as they become established and will seek to position itself as an employer of
choice, whilst at the same time enhancing its participation in making South Africa more internationally competitive.
The Company’s employment policies are designed to provide equal opportunities, without discrimination, to all employees.
Sustainability Reporting
The Company is committed to high moral, ethical and legal standards and expects all representatives of the Company to act in
accordance with the highest standards of personal and professional integrity in all aspects of their activities and to comply with
all applicable laws, regulations and the Company’s policies.
The board believes that the Company has implemented ethical standards during the year under review.
In the coming year, the Company will be acquiring WUC, which company’s main focus is rehabilitation of mines, treating coal
fines and later, acid mine drainage.
Principles contained in the King III Report with which the Company has not complied and the reasons for noncompliance
Ethical Leadership and Corporate Citizenship

Apply

Effective leadership based on an ethical foundation

√

Responsible corporate citizen

√

Effective management of company's ethics

√

Assurance statement on ethics in integrated annual
report

Partially
apply

Under review/
do not apply

√
1

Boards and Directors
The board is the focal point for, and custodian of,
corporate governance

√

Strategy, risk, performance and sustainability are
inseparable

√

Directors act in the best interest of the Company

√

The chairman of the board is an independent nonexecutive director

√

Framework for the delegation of authority has been
established

√

The board comprises a balance of power, with a majority
of non-executive directors, the majority of whom are
independent

√
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Directors are appointed through a formal process

√

Formal induction and ongoing training of directors is
conducted

√
2

The board is assisted by a competent, suitably qualified
and experienced Company Secretary

√

Regular performance evaluation of the board, its
committees and the individual directors

√
3

Appointment of well-structured committees and oversight
of key functions

√

An agreed governance framework between the group and
its subsidiary boards is in place

√
4

Directors and executives are fairly and responsibly
remunerated

√

Remuneration of directors and senior executives is
disclosed

√

The Company’s remuneration policy is approved by its
shareholders

√

Audit Committee
Effective and independent

√

Suitably skilled and experienced independent nonexecutive directors

√5

Chaired by an independent non-executive director

√

Oversees integrated reporting

√

A combined assurance model is applied to improve
efficiency in assurance activities

√

Satisfies itself on the expertise, resources and experience
of the Company’s finance functions

√

Oversees internal audit

√

Integral to the risk management process

√

Oversees the external audit process

√

Reports to the board and shareholders on how it has
discharged its duties

√

Compliance with Laws, codes, rules and standards

	
  

The board ensures that the Company complies with
relevant laws

√

The board and directors have a working understanding of
the relevance and implications of non-compliance

√
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Compliance risk forms an integral part of the Company’s
risk management process

√

The board has delegated to management the
implementation of an effective compliance framework and
processes

√
1

Governing Stakeholder Relationships
Appreciation of stakeholders' relationships

√

There is an appropriate balance between its various
stakeholder groupings

√

Equitable treatment of stakeholders

√

Transparent and effective communication to stakeholders

√

Disputes are resolved effectively and timeously

√

The Governance of Information Technology
The board is responsible for information technology (IT)
governance

√

IT is aligned with the performance and sustainability
objectives of the Company

√
6

Management is responsible for the implementation of an IT
governance framework

√
6	
  

The board monitors and evaluates significant IT
investments and expenditure

√
6	
  

IT is an integral part of the Company’s risk management

√
6	
  

IT assets are managed effectively

√
6	
  

The risk management committee and audit committee
assist the board in carrying out its IT responsibilities

√
6	
  

The Governance of Risk
The board is responsible for the governance of risk and
setting levels of risk tolerance

√

The risk management committee assists the board in
carrying out its risk responsibilities

√
7

The board delegates the process of risk management to
management

	
  

√
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The board ensures that risk assessments and monitoring is
performed on a continual basis

√

Frameworks and methodologies are implemented to
increase the probability of anticipating unpredictable risks

√
1

Management implements appropriate risk responses

√
1

The board receives assurance on the effectiveness of the
risk management process

√
1

Sufficient risk disclosure to stakeholders

√

Integrated Reporting and Disclosure
Ensures the integrity of the Company’s integrated annual
report

√

Sustainability reporting and disclosure is integrated with
the Company’s financial reporting

√

Sustainability reporting and disclosure is independently
assured

√
1

√1

This will be considered by the board as the Company grows.

√2

Whilst directors are provided with information on the business on appointment, formal ongoing training for non-executive
directors has not been introduced. This will be considered by the board as the Company grows.

√3

The board will be considering the introduction of board, committee and individual evaluation during the forthcoming year.

√4

The Company has no subsidiaries.

√5

Due to the size and nature of the Company and its lack of operations during the year under review, two independent nonexecutives and one non-executive director were members of the CARC. Once the Company grows and operations are
implemented, three independent non-executive directors will be appointed.

√6

Due to the size and nature of the Company, there is currently no focus on IT reporting and sustainability. This will be
considered by the board as the Company grows.

√7

The Company does not have a separate risk committee due to the size and nature of the Company. Risks are being
addressed and monitored at a CARC level.

Closed and Prohibited Periods
A closed period is implemented by the Company’s directors from the date of the end of the reporting period until the Company’s
results are published on SENS. Additional closed or prohibited periods are enforced as required in terms of any corporate
activity or when directors are in possession of price sensitive information. All the directors are aware of the legislation regulating
insider trading. A record of dealings by directors in the Company’s securities is retained by the Company Secretary at the
registered office of the Company.
Transfer Office
Computershare Investor Services (Pty) Ltd acts as transfer secretary to the Company.
Sustainable Development Strategy
The Company intends establishing a sustainable development strategy which will be a work in progress and will be more
detailed in the next report.
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The following principles have however been identified to start the process of establishing this strategy:
•
•
•

To consider environmental impacts.
Forming strong, sustainable and fair relationships with stakeholders.
Upliftment of communities in which it operates.

Risks
Risk assessments will be prepared by management and reviewed at each meeting of the CARC. The main risk facing the
Company during the year under review was the need to acquire new assets in order to ensure a sustainable business and meet
the JSE Limited’s Listings Requirements for continued listing on its Stock Exchange.
Stakeholders
Due to lack of operations in the Company over the past year, no stakeholder engagement methods were identified, but the
Company intends establishing open relationships with its stakeholders once the WUC acquisition has been implemented.
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Directors' responsibilities and approval
The directors are required in terms of the Companies Act of South Africa to maintain adequate accounting records and are
responsible for the content and integrity of the annual financial statements and related financial information included in
this report. The directors are responsible to ensure that the annual financial statements fairly present the state of affairs of
the Company as at the end of the financial year and the results of their operations and cash flows for the period then
ended, in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards. The external auditors are engaged to express an
independent opinion on the annual financial statements.
These annual financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and are based
upon appropriate accounting policies consistently applied and supported by reasonable and prudent judgments and estimates.
The directors acknowledge that they are ultimately responsible for the system of internal financial control established by the
Company and place considerable importance on maintaining a strong control environment. To enable the directors to
meet these responsibilities, the board sets standards for internal control aimed at reducing the risk of error or loss in a cost
effective manner. The standards include the proper delegation of responsibilities within a clearly defined framework, effective
accounting procedures and adequate segregation of duties to ensure an acceptable level of risk. These controls are monitored
throughout the company and all employees are required to maintain the highest ethical standards in ensuring the company’s
business is conducted in a manner that in all reasonable circumstances is above reproach. The focus of risk management in
the company is on identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring all known forms of risk across the company. While
operating risk cannot be fully eliminated, the company endeavours to minimise it by ensuring that appropriate infrastructure,
controls, systems and ethical behaviour are applied and managed within predetermined procedures and constraints.
The directors are of the opinion, based on the information and explanations given by management, that the system of internal
control provides reasonable assurance that the financial records may be relied on for the preparation of the annual
financial statements. However, any system of internal financial control can provide only reasonable, and not absolute,
assurance against material misstatement or loss, whether due to fraud or error.
The directors are satisfied that the Company has or has access to adequate resources to continue as a going concern for the
foreseeable future.
The external auditors are responsible for reporting on whether the consolidated and separate annual financial statements are
fairly presented in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework.
The annual financial statements set out on pages 16 to 45, which have been prepared on the going concern basis, were
approved by the board on 26 January 2012 and were signed on its behalf by:

James Herbst
Chief Executive Officer

Steve Tredoux
Financial Director

Declaration by company secretary

In terms of section 88 (2)(e) of the Companies Act, 71 of 2008 (“Act”), we certify that, to the best of our knowledge and belief,
the Company has filed returns and notices as required by the Act with the Commission for the financial year ended 28 February
2011 and from 15 November 2010 to date, all such returns as are required of a public company in terms of the aforesaid Act
have been filed, and all such returns are true, correct and up to date.

Arcay Client Support (Proprietary) Limited
26 January 2012
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Combined audit and risk committee report
The report of the Combined Audit and Risk Committee (“the Committee”) is presented as required by Section 61(8)(a)(iii) of the
Companies Act (No. 71 of 2008).
Functions and Responsibilities of the Combined Audit and Risk Committee
The role of the Committee is to assist the board by performing an objective and independent review of the functioning of the
organisation’s finance and accounting control mechanisms. It exercises its functions through close liaison and communication
with company management and the external auditor.
The Committee is guided by its terms of reference, dealing with membership, structure, and levels of authority and has the
following responsibilities:

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

ensuring compliance with applicable legislation and the requirements of any regulatory authority;
nominating for appointment a registered auditor who, in the opinion of the audit committee, is independent of the
Company;
considering whether the expertise and experience of the Financial Director is appropriate;
considering matters relating to financial accounting, accounting policies, reporting and disclosure;
considering internal and external audit policy including determining fees and the terms of engagement;
considering and evaluating, on an on-going basis, the need for an internal audit function and audit plans;
reviewing and approving external audit plans, findings, problems, reports, fees and determining and approving any
non-audit services that the auditor may provide to the Company;
ensuring compliance with the Code of Corporate Practices and Conduct; and
ensuring compliance with the Company’s code of ethics.

The Committee was established, and members appointed to the Committee, on 30 November 2010 pursuant to a new board of
directors being appointed. The members of the Committee adopted its mandate on the same date. The Committee has, and
considering the fact that the Company was constituted as a cash shell with no operations, established a policy, as well as
required procedures with regard to the use of the external auditors, for non-audit services. During the year under review no
non-audit services were utilised.
The Committee also assesses and monitors all risk matters, which responsibilities have been assumed with the adoption by the
audit committee of a risk mandate.
Members of the Combined Audit and Risk Committee
The Committee consists of three non-executive directors, who are:
K Jarvis (Chairman)
B McQueen
E Greenblatt
E Greenblatt is not considered independent in terms of King III by virtue of her shareholding in the Company, which is in excess
of 5%. In terms of King III, a minimum of three independent non-executive directors are recommended. However, given the
size and nature of the Company, and that it is considered a cash shell in terms of the JSE Listings Requirements, the need for a
third independent non-executive director is not warranted. The composition of the Committee will be restructured in the
forthcoming year to become compliant with King III pursuant to the acquisition as detailed under subsequent events.
The external auditors, the chief executive officer and the financial director are all invited to attend the meetings of the
Committee. The members of the Committee have at all times acted in an independent manner.

	
  

Frequency of meetings
Due to the Company being constituted a cash shell, with effect from 20 December 2010, the Committee has only met once
during the 2011 financial year in order to review and approve the annual financial statements. However, going forward the
Committee intends meeting a minimum of three times per year and provision will be made for additional meetings to be held
when, and if, necessary.

	
  

15
13

Capricorn Investment Holdings Limited

(Registration number 1987/004821/06)
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 28 February 2011

Combined audit and risk committee report
Independence of external audit
One of the responsibilities of the Combined Audit and Risk Committee is the assessment of the independence of the auditor.
The Committee is satisfied that the auditor is independent of the Company. The auditor has also confirmed that its personnel
are independent of the Company and Group.
Expertise and experience of the financial director
As required by the JSE Limited’s Listing Requirements 3.84(h), the Committee has satisfied itself that the current financial
director, Mr S Tredoux, has the appropriate expertise and experience.
Financial statements
Group annual financial statements have not been presented as the Company was unable to gain access to the accounting
records of the former dormant and operating subsidiary companies after their disposal. Accordingly, management has reviewed
the annual financial statements of the Company with the Committee, and the Committee has reviewed them without
management or the external auditor being present. The quality of the accounting policies are discussed with the external auditor
and a private discussion was held with the auditor. The Committee considers the annual financial statements of Capricorn
Investment Holdings Limited to be a fair presentation of its financial position as at 28 February 2011 and of the results of the
operations, changes in equity and cash flows for the period ended then, in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards and the Companies Act.

K Jarvis
Chairman
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Independent auditor’s report
Independent Auditor’s Report
To the members of Capricorn Investment Holdings Limited (formerly Cenmag Holdings Limited)
Report on Financial Statements
We have audited the annual financial statements of Capricorn Investment Holdings Limited (formerly Cenmag
Holdings Limited), which comprise the statements of financial position at 28 February 2011, and the statements of
comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory notes, and the directors’ report as set out on pages 16 to 45
Directors’ Responsibility for the Annual Financial Statements
The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these annual financial statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and in the manner required by the Companies Act of
South Africa and for such internal controls as the directors determine are necessary to enable the preparation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatements, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditor's Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these annual financial statements based on our audit. We conducted
our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the annual financial statements
are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the annual
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors' judgement, including the assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the annual financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the
annual financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the annual financial statements.
Because of the matter described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion on the Group Financial Statements paragraph,
we were not able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion on the Group
Financial Statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion on the separate financial statements of the company.
Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion on the Group Financial Statements
The company disposed of all its subsidiaries effectively 29 November 2010. Group financial statements for the year
ended 28 February 2011 have not been presented to us for audit as the accounting records of the former subsidiaries
were not made available to us and we were not engaged by the directors to carry out an audit thereon.
The group has presented group annual financial statements at 31 August 2010 instead of group annual financial
statements at 28 February 2011. Presentation of the results at 28 February 2011 is required by International Financial
Reporting Standards, IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements. It is not possible to quantify the effect of these
departures from International Financial Reporting Standards which are considered by nature to be pervasive to the
financial statements.
Disclaimer of Opinion on the Group Financial Statements
Because of the significance of the matter described in the Basis of Disclaimer of Opinion on the Group Financial
Statements paragraph, we have not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an
audit opinion on Capricorn Holdings Limited’s (formerly Cenmag Holdings Limited) group annual financial statements.
Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the group annual financial statements.
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Independent auditor’s report
Opinion on Separate Annual Financial Statements
In our opinion, the separate annual financial statements of the company present fairly, in all material respects, the
separate financial position of Capricorn Investment Holdings Limited (formerly Cenmag Holdings Limited) at 28
February 2011, and separate financial performance and separate cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards, and in the manner required by the Companies Act of South Africa.
Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
In accordance with our responsibilities in terms of sections 44(2) and 44(3) of the Auditing Profession Act, we report
that we have identified certain unlawful acts or omissions committed by persons responsible for the management of
Capricorn Holdings Limited which constitute reportable irregularities in terms of the Auditing Profession Act, and have
reported the matters described below to the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors.
The company has not distributed the annual financial statements and notice of the annual general meeting to
shareholders within the prescribed period as required in terms of the JSE Listing Requirements and the Companies
Act.

Horwath Leveton Boner
Registered Auditor
Per: Selwyn Bloch
Registered Auditor
Partner
3 Sandown Valley Crescent,
Sandown
26 January 2012
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Directors' report
The directors present the annual financial statements of the Company and the Group for the year ended 28 February 2011.
NATURE OF BUSINESS
Capricorn Investment Holdings Limited (previously Cenmag Holdings Limited) operated as an investment holding company,
holding investments in subsidiaries that were primarily involved in the manufacture and servicing of electromagnets, the
rewinding of motors and the wholesale of electrical and related equipment. Whilst the subsidiaries achieved growth in 2008 and
2009, the industries in which the Group operated experienced a downturn, which resulted in lower demand for its products. It
was decided at that time that it was in the best interest of the Company and its shareholders that the Company dispose of these
operating subsidiaries. The operating subsidiaries were sold to Blaf Investments CC, a related party to the Company, which
resulted in a Section 228 disposal (“the Blaf Disposal”) in terms of the previous Companies Act, 61 of 1973. The Blaf Disposal
was approved by shareholders at a general meeting of the Company held on 15 November 2010. At that meeting shareholders
further resolved to restructure the Company by way of resolutions authorising the Company to repurchase its own ordinary
shares, increase its authorised share capital, sub-divide its shares on a 10-for-1 basis, reconstitute the board of directors and
change the name of the Company to Capricorn Investment Holdings Limited (“Capricorn”).
Capricorn is currently a cash-shell, having become so with effect from 20 December 2010.
The shares of Capricorn were suspended from trading on the lists of the JSE Limited with effect from 21 June 2011 due to its
failure to conclude agreements to acquire assets within the prescribed period. Shareholders are referred to subsequent events
below.
FINANCIAL RESULTS
Since the Company was, and continues to be, a cash-shell no revenue was generated for the year ended 28 February 2011.
The Company did however report non-operational income in the form of interest received and dividend income from its former
subsidiaries. This resulted in headline earnings per share of 6.60 cents per share compared to 2.65 cents per share in the prior
period. The Company repurchased approximately 37.62% of its issued capital and subsequently subdivided the share capital on
a 10-for-1 basis resulting in the par value of its ordinary shares being reduced from R0.01 per share to R0.001 per share; this
has a dilutive effect on the earnings per share information. The details of the repurchase of shares and sub-division of share
capital are clarified below.
ISSUE AND REPURCHASE OF SHARES AND SUB-DIVISION OF SHARE CAPITAL
During the year under review, the shareholders of the Company approved a specific repurchase of 1 009 293 Capricorn
ordinary shares from Blaf Investments CC and 2 402 105 Capricorn ordinary shares from Victor Farkas, both deemed to be
related parties to the Company in terms of the JSE Limited Listings Requirements. These specific repurchases were done at a
price of 120 cents per share (prior to the sub-division of shares) for which shareholder approval was received at the general
meeting held on 15 November 2010.
In addition to requesting approval for the above-mentioned repurchase of shares, the Company requested shareholders to
approve a sub-division of the issued and authorised share capital on a 10-for-1 basis as well as the cancellation of 200 000
ordinary shares (2 000 000 shares post the sub-division) held by Cenmag Holdings Limited Share Incentive Trust, which was
also approved on 15 November 2010.
No new shares were issued during the year under review.
At the end of the year, the Company had an authorised share capital consisting of 1 000 000 000 ordinary shares and issued
share capital consisting of 59 886 020 ordinary shares. Each share had a par value of R0.001 per share.
CHANGES INVOLVING DIRECTOR REPRESENTATION ON THE BOARD
During the year under review Messrs V Farkas, C Le Roux and J Farkas resigned. Their resignations took effect on 29
November 2010. Messrs J Herbst, S Tredoux, B McQueen and K Jarvis were appointed to the board with effect from 30
November 2010. Subsequent to the end of the financial year Mr C Pettit was appointed to the board as a non-executive director;
his appointment took effect on 19 July 2011.
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Directors' report
Other than as mentioned above, no other changes to the board of directors took place during the period under review, and to
the date of this report.
DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS
The individual interests declared by the directors and officers in the Company’s share capital as at 28 February 2011 as well as
the comparative totals for the year ended 28 February 2010, held directly or indirectly (post the sub-division of shares on a 10:1
basis) were as follows:
Director

Beneficial

Total - 2011

% - 2011

Direct

Indirect

20 082 760

-

20 082 760

33.54%

S Tredoux~

-

-

-

-

B McQueen#~

-

-

-

-

K Jarvis#~

-

-

-

-

34 076 920

-

34 076 920

56.90%

C Pettit^*

-

-

-

-

V Farkas®

-

-

-

-

C Le Roux®

-

-

-

-

J Farkas®

-

-

-

-

54 159 680

-

54 159 680

90.44%

J Herbst~

E Greenblatt*

# Independent Non-Executive, * Non-Executive, ~ Appointed 30 November 2010 ^ Appointed 19 July 2011 ® Resigned 29
November 2010
Director

Beneficial

Total - 2010

% - 2010

Direct

Indirect

E Greenblatt*

2 402 105

1 474 517

3 876 622

40.38%

V Farkas

2 402 105

1 474 517

3 876 622

40.38%

C Le Roux*

-

-

-

-

J Farkas

-

-

-

-

3 411 397

-

8 903 613

92.75%

* Non-Executive
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Directors' report
As detailed above, with effect from 15 November 2010, all of V Farkas’ shares were repurchased by the Company at a
repurchase price of 120 cents per share. In terms of a settlement reached between Mr V Farkas and Mrs E Greenblatt, and
recorded in a settlement agreement, Mrs E Greenblatt’s ownership in the Company was increased. The settlement agreement
was referred to in the circular to shareholders dated 22 October 2010.
Subsequent to the end of the financial year, Mrs E Greenblatt and Mr J Herbst entered a series of agreements with Trinity Asset
Management (Pty) Limited (“TAM”), including a sale of shares agreement and two respective put and call option agreements.
These agreements were signed on 20 June 2011. In terms of the sale of shares agreement Mrs E Greenblatt sold 13 168 126
ordinary shares in Capricorn to TAM, comprising 21.99% of the aggregate issued share capital of the Company, while Mr J
Herbst sold 7 785 992 ordinary shares in Capricorn to TAM, comprising 13% of the aggregate issued share capital of the
Company. In terms of the respective put and call option agreements signed between TAM on the one hand, and each of Mrs E
Greenblatt and MR J Herbst on the other, first and second put and call options were granted by each of the parties to the other
at a price of 13 cents per share, which options are capable of being exercise after the expiry of 180 days. The put and call
options expire 240 days after 21 June 2011 and 360 days after 21 June 2011 respectively.
E Greenblatt and J Herbst elected to exercise their first put options for the sale of 13 863 298 and 8 514 602 shares
respectively. The date of sale of the ordinary shares underlying these first put options is the day after the Company was no
longer in a closed period, with the audited year end and reviewed interim results having been published and the withdrawal of a
cautionary announcement. The exercise of the put options constituted a change in control of the Company and an ‘affected
transaction’ in terms of the Takeover Regulation Panel (“TRP”), obliging TAM, the Offeror, to make a mandatory offer to minority
shareholders to acquire their Capricorn shares on similar terms to the shares purchased by TAM from E Greenblatt and J
Herbst. The details of this change in control and mandatory offer are included in a circular to shareholders, which will be posted
in due course.
In addition, E Greenblatt also elected to exercise her second put option to sell a further 7 082 547 shares in Capricorn to TAM at
13 cents per share. The date of sale of the ordinary shares underlying this second put option was the day post the signing of
the Capricorn 2011 annual financial statements.
Other than as mentioned above, there has been no further change in directors’ interests in the share capital of the Company
subsequent to 28 February 2011 and up until the date of this report.
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS
The emoluments of executive and non-executive directors are determined by the Group’s Combined Remuneration and
Nomination Committee and the board, where appropriate. Further information relating to the earnings of directors is provided in
note 23 to the Company’s annual financial statements. The remuneration policy of the Company for the forthcoming year is set
out in the notice to the annual general meeting notice, which includes the proposed remuneration for non-executive directors.
COMPANY SECRETARY
Arcay Client Support (Proprietary) Limited was appointed as Company Secretary on 29 November 2010. The previous
Company Secretary, V Farkas, resigned on 28 November 2010.
AUDITORS
Horwath Leveton Boner has been reappointed as the Company’s auditor for the year ended 28 February 2011. It will be
proposed at the Annual General Meeting of shareholders that Horwath Leveton Boner continue in office in accordance with
section 90(1) of the Companies Act, with Mr Selwyn Bloch as the Designated Auditor. The Combined Audit and Risk Committee
is satisfied with the independence of the auditor to the Company.
SHARE CAPITAL
The authorised and issued share capital of the Company as at 28 February 2011 is set out in note 8 of the annual financial
statements. As at 28 February 2011, there were 59 886 020 issued ordinary shares and 940 113 980 unissued ordinary shares.
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Directors' report
DIVIDEND
No dividends were recommended or declared in the current financial year.
LITIGATION
There are no proceedings which may be pending or threatened, which may have, or which have had a material effect on the
financial position of the Company.
SPECIAL RESOLUTIONS
At the general meeting of shareholders held on 15 November 2010, the following special resolutions were presented and
approved by the shareholders:
1.)
2.)
3.)
4.)
5.)
6.)

A specific repurchase of 3 411 398 ordinary shares in terms of Section 85 of the Companies Act, 61 of 1973;
A disposal of the dormant and operating subsidiary companies of the Capricorn in terms of Section 228 in terms of the
Companies Act, 61 of 1973;
A change of name from Cenmag Holdings Limited to Capricorn Investment Holdings Limited;
An increase in the authorised share capital to 1 000 000 000 shares (post the sub-division);
A sub-division of the authorised and issued share capital on a 10-for-1 basis from 1 cent to 0.1 cent shares; and
The specific repurchase of 200 000 ordinary shares in terms of Section 85 of the Companies Act, 61 of 1973 and a
cancellation of these shares as well as a cancellation of the Cenmag Holdings Limited Share Incentive Trust.

No special resolutions were passed by the former subsidiaries up to the date of their disposal.
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The directors subscribe to the values of corporate governance as embodied in the King III report on Corporate Governance.
Details of the Company’s compliance with the Code of Corporate Practices and Conduct as contained in the King III Report are
contained in the Sustainability and Corporate Governance Report.
SUBSEQUENT EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE AND FUTURE PROSPECTS
As announced on the Stock Exchange News Service on 15 December 2011, a sale and purchase agreement was agreed, and
now signed, amongst the Company, Water Utilities Limited (a United Kingdom domiciled company) and Watermark Global PLC
(“Watermark”), a United Kingdom domiciled company and the parent company of Water Utilities Limited involving the acquisition
by the Company of 100% of the shares in, and loan account claims against, Western Utilities Corporation (Proprietary) Limited
(“WUC”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Water Utilities Limited, for a purchase consideration of GBP4.50 million.
WUC has procured a water treatment technology and commercialisation entity which has developed a Long Term Self
Sustainable Solution for Acid Mine Drainage (“AMD”) in South Africa. WUC has also developed proprietary technology in its
coal briquetting project (“Briquetting Project”). The Briquetting Project is currently at the development stage but is expected to be
in production within 12 months. Off-take agreements are already in place in order to secure the income streams of the
Briquetting Project. The agreements are held with mines where the coal fines are generated.
It is also envisaged that there will be off-take agreements with the mines for the industrial quality water and that potable water
will be incorporated into a bulk water distributor network, following receipt of all required approvals for the AMD project. It has
been proposed that revenue will be generated for services rendered through the implementation of the technology, for the water
distribution, and through the sale of by-products generated from the AMD Project.
A circular to shareholders will be posted to shareholders detailing the acquisition and any associated transactions, which are
subject to shareholder approval.
AUDITOR’S OPINION ON THE GROUP RESULTS
Basis for Disclaimer of the Group Annual Financial Statements
Group annual financial statements for the year ended 28 February 2011 have not been presented as the accounting records of
the former subsidiary companies were not made available and consequently the external auditor was not engaged by the
directors to carry out an audit.
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Directors' report
Disclaimer of Group Annual Financial Statements
Because of circumstances described in the Basis of Disclaimer of the audit opinion on the Group annual financial statements for
the year ended 28 February 2011 the external auditors are unable to express an opinion.
However the subsidiary results are not relevant to the Company going forward and the disclaimer relates only to the Group
results, with particular reference to the Statement of Comprehensive Income and the related impact on the Group Statement of
Cash Flows and Statement of Changes in Equity. By its nature, the disclaimer will not have a continuing impact on Capricorn
going forward.
The Company received an unmodified and unqualified audit opinion on the Company annual financial statements.

23

21

Capricorn Investment Holdings Limited

(Registration number 1987/004821/06)
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 28 February 2011

Statements of financial position

Group

Note(s)

Unaudited
31/08/10
R '000

Company
2010

2011

2010

R '000

R '000

R '000

Assets
Non-Current Assets
Property, plant and equipment
Investments in subsidiaries
Deferred tax

Current Assets
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

2
3
4

5
6
7

Total Assets

7 175
267

7 405
228

15

5 554
15

7 442

7 633

15

5 569

*
*
8 369

1 602
3 717
8 266

5 751

1 430

13 641

13 585

5 751

1 430

21 083

21 218

5 766

6 999

* A breakdown of inventories and trade and other receivables is unavailable. The totals are an extract of the interim
results at 31 August 2010.
Equity and Liabilities
Equity
Equity Attributable to Equity Holders of Parent
Share capital
Share premium
Retained earnings

8
8

Non-controlling interest

96
2 090
15 090

96
2 090
14 112

62
3 521
2 055

96
7 581
(2 511)

17 276
496

16 298
482

5 638
-

5 166
-

17 772

16 780

5 638

5 166

*
*
*

397
4 041

55
73

1 642
24
167

3 311

4 438

128

1 833

21 083

21 218

5 766

6 999

Liabilities
Current Liabilities
Loans from group companies
Current tax payable
Trade and other payables

9
10

Total Equity and Liabilities
*

A breakdown of current liabilities is unavailable. The totals are an extract of the interim results at 31 August 2010.
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Statements of comprehensive income
Group

Note(s)
Revenue
Cost of sales

11

Gross profit
Operating expenses
Operating profit (loss)
Investment revenue - interest (continuing operations)
Investment revenue - dividends (discontinued
operations)
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries
Finance costs
Profit (loss) before taxation
Taxation

12
13

14

Unaudited
31/08/10
R '000

Company
2010

2011

2010

R '000

R '000

R '000

20 062
(13 678)

34 615
(23 944)

-

-

6 384
(5 005)

10 671
(8 268)

(1 097)

(4 291)

1 379
132
-

2 403
826
-

(1 097)
45
6 730

(4 291)
598
-

-

-

(1 081)
-

(421)

1 511
(519)

3 229
(658)

4 597
(31)

(4 114)
-

Profit (loss) for the year
Other comprehensive income

992
-

2 571
-

4 566
-

(4 114)
-

Total comprehensive income (loss)

992

2 571

4 566

(4 114)

Profit (loss) attributable to :
Owners of the parent

992

2 571

4 566

(4 114)

Total comprehensive income (loss) attributable to:
Owners of the parent
Non-controlling interest

978
14

2 541
30

4 566
-

(4 114)
-

992

2 571

4 566

(4 114)

-

-

5.33

(4.29)

1.02

2.65

-

15

Earnings per share
Basic and diluted earnings per share (from continuing 16
operations)
Basic and diluted earnings per share (from
16
discontinued operations)

23 25

-

Capricorn Investment Holdings Limited

R '000

Total share
capital

R '000

Non distributable
reserves

R '000

Retained
earnings

96
-

2 090
-

2 186
-

-

2 186
-

-

-

-

14 112
992

2 541

11 571
2 541

16 298
992

2 541

13 757
2 541

-

482
-

30

452
30

992

16 780
992

2 571

14 209
2 571

Total
Non-controlling Total equity
attributable to
interest
equity holders
of the group /
company
R '000
R '000
R '000

-

2 090
-

992

R '000

96
-

992

9 280
(4 114)
-

-

(4 114)

-

-

5 166
4 566
(4 094)

-

-

472

-

9 280
(4 114)
-

-

5 638

17 772

(4 114)

-

482

1 527
(4 114)
76

5 166
4 566
(4 094)

-

17 290

(4 038)

472

15 104

76
(76)

(2 511)
4 566
-

5 638

-

(76)

4 566

2 186

7 677
-

-

2 055

2 090

7 581
-

-

-

96

96
-

-

7 677
(4 094)

-

8

-

7 581
(4 060)

3 583

(4 094)

8

R '000

Share capital Share premium
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Statements of changes in equity

Group
Balance at 01 March 2009
Total comprehensive income for the year
Total changes
Balance at 01 March 2010
Total comprehensive income for the year
Total changes
Balance at 31 August 2010
Note(s)

96
(34)

3 521

(4 060)

Company
Balance at 01 March 2009
Total comprehensive loss for the year
Transfer of reserves
Balance at 01 March 2010
Total comprehensive income for the year
Repurchase of shares and cancellation thereof

62

(34)

Total changes

Total changes

8

Balance at 28 February 2011
Note(s)

8
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Statements of cash flows
Group

Note(s)

Unaudited
31/08/10
R '000

Company
2010
R '000

2011
R '000

2010
R '000

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from (used in) operations
Interest income
Dividends received
Finance costs
Tax paid

18

*
*
*
*
*

19

Net cash from operating activities

103

3 941
826
(2 327)

(2 454)
45
6 730
-

(223)
598
(421)
-

2 440

4 321

(46)

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment

2

Net cash from investing activities

-

(758)

-

-

-

(758)

-

-

-

(2 309)

-

(5 556)

103
8 266

(627)
8 893

4 321
1 430

(5 602)
7 032

8 369

8 266

5 751

1 430

Cash flows from financing activities
Borrowings repaid
Total cash movement for the year
Cash at the beginning of the year
Total cash at end of the year

7

* A breakdown of cash flows from operating activities is unavailable. The totals are an extract of the interim results at 31 August
2010.
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Accounting policies
1.

Presentation of Annual Financial Statements

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and the
Companies Act of South Africa. The annual financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, and
incorporate the principal accounting policies set out below.
The annual financial statements are prepared in South African Rand (ZAR), the functional currency of the group and company
and all amounts are rounded to the nearest thousand, except when otherwise indicated.
The group has elected to present the 'income statement' and a 'statement of comprehensive income' in one statement: the
'statement of comprehensive income'.
1.1

Consolidation

Basis of consolidation
The annual financial statements incorporate the annual financial statements of the company and all entities, including special
purpose entities, which are controlled by the company.
Control exists when the company has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to
obtain benefits from its activities.
The results of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated annual financial statements from the effective date of acquisition to
the effective date of disposal.
Adjustments are made when necessary to the annual financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in
line with those of the group.
All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated in full on consolidation.
Non-controlling interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries are identified and recognised separately from
the group's interest therein, and are recognised within equity. Losses of subsidiaries attributable to non-controlling interests
are allocated to the non-controlling interest even if this results in a debit balance being recognised for non-controlling interest.
Business combinations
Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The purchase method involves the
recognition of the acquirer’s identifiable assets and liabilities, including contingent liabilities, regardless of whether they were
recorded in the annual financial statements prior to acquisition. On initial recognition, the assets and liabilities of the
acquired subsidiaries are included in the consolidated statement of financial position at their fair values, which are also
used as the bases for subsequent measurement in accordance with the Group’s accounting policies.
Goodwill arising on the acquisition of a subsidiary, associate or joint venture represents the excess of the cost of acquisition
over the group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities at the date
of acquisition. Goodwill is initially recognised as an asset at cost and is subsequently measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is not amortised but is subject to an annual impairment test or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may be impaired.
If the cost of acquisition is less than the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised directly in
the statement of financial performance. Goodwill on the acquisition of subsidiaries is included in “goodwill” in the
statement of financial position. Goodwill on acquisitions of associates and joint ventures is included in “investments in
associates”, and “investments in joint ventures” respectively.
1.2

Significant judgements and sources of estimation uncertainty

The preparation of annual financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities
at the date of the annual financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting
period based on management’s best knowledge of current events and actions. Actual results may differ from these
estimates. The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.
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1.2

Significant judgements and sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Areas involving a high degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
Group annual financial statements are:
Taxation
Management’s judgement is exercised when determining the probability of future taxable profits, which will determine whether
deferred tax assets should be recognised or derecognised. The utilisation of deferred tax assets will depend on whether it is
possible to generate sufficient taxable income, taking into account any legal restrictions on the life and on the nature of the
asset. When deciding whether to recognise unutilised taxation credits, management needs to determine the extent to which
future taxable income is likely to be earned and be available for future set-off. Estimates of future taxable income are based on
forecast cash flows from operations and the application of existing tax laws in each jurisdiction. To the extent that future cash
flows and taxable income differ significantly from estimates, the ability of the Company to realise the net deferred tax assets
recorded at the reporting date could be impacted. In the event that the assessment of future payments and future utilisation
changes, the change is recognised in the statement of financial performance as a prior year under or over provision.
Property, plant and equipment
The useful lives of property, plant and equipment are based on management estimation. Management considers the impact of
changes in technology and customer service requirements, expected physical wear and tear, expected usage of the asset and
any legal or similar limits on the use of the asset to determine the period over which an item of property, plant and equipment is
expected to be available for use by the Group. The estimation of residual values of assets is also based on management’s
judgement whether the assets will be sold, the costs of such disposal and what the expected condition of these assets is likely
to be at the time of their disposal.
1.3

Foreign currency translation

The individual annual financial statements of each group entity are presented in the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (its functional currency). For the purpose of the consolidated annual financial
statements, the results and financial position of each group entity are expressed in South African Rand (ZAR), which is
the functional currency of the company and the presentation currency for the consolidated annual financial statements.
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency of the respective group entity, using the
exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions (spot exchange rate). Foreign exchange gains and losses
resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the remeasurement of monetary items at year-end exchange rates,
are recognized in profit or loss. Non-monetary items measured at historical cost, are translated using the exchange rates
at the date of the transaction (not retranslated). Non-monetary items measured at fair value are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when fair value was determined.
1.4

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost, being the purchase cost plus any cost to prepare the assets for
their intended use. Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are recognised in profit or loss during
the financial period in which they are incurred.
Property, plant and equipment (excluding land and buildings) are subsequently carried at cost less accumulated depreciation
and any accumulated impairment losses. Property, plant and equipment, with the exception of land, are depreciated on the
straight-line basis over each asset’s estimated useful life. Land is not depreciated as it is deemed to have an indefinite life.
Each part of an item of property, plant and equipment with a cost that is significant in relation to the total cost of the item shall
be depreciated separately.
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1.4

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Item
Land
Buildings
Plant and machinery
Motor vehicles
Office equipment
IT equipment

Average useful life
Indefinite
20 years
5 years
4 - 5 years
10 years
3 - 4 years

The residual value, useful life and depreciation method of each asset are reviewed at the end of each reporting period. If the
expectations differ from previous estimates, the change is accounted for as a change in accounting estimate.
The depreciation charge for each period is recognised in profit or loss.
1.5

Investments in subsidiaries

Company annual financial statements
In the company’s separate annual financial statements, investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost less any accumulated
impairment.
The cost of an investment in a subsidiary is the aggregate of:

the fair value, at the date of exchange, of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity
instruments issued by the company; plus

any costs directly attributable to the purchase of the subsidiary.
An adjustment to the cost of a business combination contingent on future events is included in the cost of the combination if the
adjustment is probable and can be measured reliably.
1.6 Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
financial instrument.
Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or when the
financial asset and all substantial risks and rewards are transferred. A financial liability is derecognised when it is extinguished,
discharged, cancelled or expires.
Financial assets and financial liabilities are measured initially at fair value plus transactions costs, except for financial assets
and financial liabilities carried at fair value through profit or loss, which are measured initially at fair value and subsequently as
described below.
Financial assets
All financial assets are recognised and derecognised on trade date where the purchase or sale of a financial asset is under a
contract whose terms require delivery of the financial asset within the time frame established by the market concerned, and are
initially measured at fair value, plus transaction costs, except for those financial assets classified as at fair value through profit
or loss, which are initially measured at fair value.
Financial assets are classified into the following specified categories: ‘available-for-sale’ (AFS) financial assets and ‘loans and
receivables’. The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time
of initial recognition.
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating
interest income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts through the expected life of the debt instrument, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the net carrying amount
on initial recognition.
All financial assets are subject to review for impairment at least at each reporting date. Financial assets are impaired when
there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. Different criteria to determine
impairment are applied for each category of financial assets, which are described below.
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1.6

Financial instruments (continued)

All income and expenses relating to financial assets that are recognised in profit or loss are presented within ‘finance costs’,
‘finance income’ or ‘other financial items’, except for impairment of trade receivables which is presented within ‘other
expenses’.
Dividends on AFS equity instruments are recognised in profit or loss when the group’s right to receive the dividends
is established.
The fair value of AFS monetary assets denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that foreign currency and translated
at the spot rate at the statement of financial position date. The change in fair value attributable to translation differences
that result from a change in amortised cost of the asset is recognised in profit or loss, and other changes are recognised in
equity.
Loans and receivables
Trade receivables, loans, cash and cash equivalents and other receivables that have fixed or determinable payments that are
not quoted in an active market are classified as ‘loans and receivables’. Loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, less any impairment.
Interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate, except for short-term receivables when the recognition of
interest would be immaterial.
Impairment of financial assets
Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at each balance sheet date. Financial assets are impaired where
there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the
financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the investment have been impacted.
For listed and unlisted equity investments classified as AFS, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the security
below its cost is considered to be objective evidence of impairment.
For all other financial assets, including redeemable notes classified as AFS and finance lease receivables, objective evidence
of impairment include significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty, or default or delinquency in interest or principal
payments, or it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation.
For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired individually
are subsequently assessed for impairment on a collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables
could include the group’s past experience of collecting payments, an increase in the number of delayed payments in
the portfolio past the average credit period of 60 days, as well as observable changes in national or local economic conditions
that correlate with default on receivables.
For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment is the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the financial asset’s original effective
interest rate.
The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the exception
of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account. When a trade receivable
is considered uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against the allowance account. Changes in the carrying
amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit or loss.
With the exception of AFS equity instruments, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the
decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously
recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the investment at
the date the impairment is reversed, does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been
recognised.
In respect of AFS equity securities, impairment losses previously recognised through profit or loss are not reversed through
profit or loss. Any increase in fair value subsequent to an impairment loss is recognised in other comprehensive income.
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1.6

Financial instruments (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets
The group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or it transfers
the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the group neither
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset,
the group recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the
group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the group continues to
recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are classified as ‘other financial liabilities’.
The group’s other financial liabilities comprise borrowings and trade and other payables.
Classification as debt or equity
Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangement.
Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of
its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the group are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
Other financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs. Other financial liabilities are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, with interest expense recognised on an effective yield basis.
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
payments through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period.
Derecognition of financial liabilities
The group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
they expire.
1.7 Income tax
Income tax expense recognised in profit or loss comprises the sum of deferred taxation and current taxation not recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity.
Current taxation
Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years. Current
tax payable also includes any tax liability arising from the declaration of dividends.
Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be recovered
from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or
substantively enacted by the reporting date.
Current income tax relating to items recognised directly in equity is recognised in equity and not in the statement of financial
performance.
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1.7

Income tax (continued)

Deferred taxation
Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet liability method based on temporary differences. Deferred income tax assets
and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when the asset is realised or the liability is
settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. The
amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets
and liabilities.
Deferred tax for the period is to be recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to a transaction that
is recognised directly in equity, or a business combination that is an acquisition. The effect on deferred tax of any changes in
the tax rates is recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to items previously charged or credited
directly to equity. Deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right
exists to set off tax assets against tax liabilities and deferred income taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same
taxation authority.
A deferred tax asset relating to deductible temporary differences is recognised for all deductible differences to the extent that it
is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the associated unused tax losses and deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. The carrying amount of deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.
Secondary tax on companies (STC)
Current tax payable also includes any tax liability arising from the declaration of dividends.
The tax effect of dividends is recognised when the liability to pay the dividend is recognised. The STC liability is reduced by
dividends received during the dividend cycle, and where dividends received exceed dividends declared within a cycle, there is
no liability to pay STC. The potential tax benefit related to excess dividends received is carried forward to the next dividend
cycle. Deferred tax assets are recognised in respect of unutilised STC credits to the extent that it is probable that the Group will
declare future dividends to utilise such secondary tax credits.
Where dividends declared exceed the dividends received during a cycle, secondary tax is payable at the current STC
rate. Secondary tax is a charge to profit or loss, and is presented in the taxation charge in the statement of financial
performance in the same period as the related dividend is accrued as a liability
1.8

Leases

A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. A lease is
classified as an operating lease if it does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership.
Operating leases – lessee
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The difference between
the amounts recognised as an expense and the contractual payments are recognised as an operating lease liability or asset.
This liability is not discounted.
Any contingent rents are expensed in the period they are incurred.
In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a liability. The
aggregate benefit of such incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-line basis, except
where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased
asset are consumed.
1.9

Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. The
cost of inventories includes all expenses directly attributable to the manufacturing process as well as suitable portions
of related production overheads, based on normal operating capacity. Costs of ordinarily interchangeable items are
assigned using the first in, first out formula.
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1.10 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, together with other short-term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value.
1.11 Impairment of assets
Impairment of non-financial assets
The Group evaluates the carrying value of assets with finite useful lives when events and circumstances indicate that
the carrying value may not be recoverable. Irrespective of whether there is indication of impairment, the Group tests
goodwill acquired in business combinations for impairment annually. This impairment test is performed during the initial
period and annually thereafter. Intangible assets not yet available for use are tested annually for impairment.
An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss when the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. An
asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the fair value less cost to sell (the amount obtainable from the sale of an asset in
an arm’s length transaction between knowledgeable willing parties), or its value in use. Value in use is the present value of
estimated future cash flows expected to arise from the continuing use of an asset and from its disposal at the end of its useful
life. The estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. For the purposes of assessing impairment,
assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows.
An impairment loss recognised for an asset, other than goodwill, in prior years is reversed if there has been a change in the
estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised and the
recoverable amount exceeds the carrying amount. The reversal of the impairment is limited to the carrying amount that would
have been determined (net of depreciation or amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised in prior years.
The reversal of such an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss in the same line item as the original impairment charge.
1.12 Share capital and equity
Share capital represents the nominal value of shares that have been issued.
Share premium includes any premiums received on issue of share capital and premiums paid on repurchase of share capital.
Any transaction cost associated with the issuing of shares is deducted from share premium, net of any related income
tax benefit.
Retained earnings include all current and prior period retained profits.
Dividend distributions payable to equity shareholders are included in other liabilities when the dividends have been approved in
a general meeting prior to the reporting date.
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of
its liabilities.
1.13 Provisions and contingencies
Provisions are recognised when:

the group has a present obligation as a result of a past event;

it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation; and

a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation.
Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation using a pretax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation.
The increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as an interest expense
Where possible outflows of economic resources, as a result of present obligations is considered improbable or remote, no
liability is recognised.
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1.13 Provisions and contingencies (continued)
Possible inflow of economic benefits to the Group that do not yet meet the recognition criteria of an asset are
considered contingent assets.
Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised. They are disclosed in the notes.
Onerous contracts
Present obligations arising under onerous contracts are recognised and measured as provisions. An onerous contract
is considered to exist where the group has a contract under which the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations under
the contract exceed the economic benefits expected to be received under it.
1.14 Employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits
The cost of short-term employee benefits (those payable within 12 months after the service is rendered, such as paid vacation
leave and sick leave, bonuses, and non-monetary benefits such as medical care) are recognised in the period in which the
service is rendered and are not discounted.
The expected cost of compensated absences is recognised as an expense as the employees render services that increase
their entitlement or, in the case of non-accumulating absences, when the absence occurs.
The expected cost of profit sharing and bonus payments is recognised as an expense when there is a legal or constructive
obligation to make such payments as a result of past performance and the obligation can be estimated reliably.
1.15 Segment reporting
In identifying its operating segments, management generally follows the group’s service lines, which represents the main
services provided by the group. The group is organised into two main operating segments, namely manufacturing and
wholesaling. Each of these operating segments is managed separately as each of these segments requires different
technologies and other resources.
Segment results include revenue and expenses directly attributable to a segment and the relevant portion of enterprise revenue
and expenses that can be allocated on a reasonable basis to a segment. All inter-segment transactions are carried out at arm’s
length prices. These transactions are eliminated on consolidation. Segment assets and liabilities comprise operating assets
and liabilities directly attributable to the segment.
1.16 Revenue
Revenue from the sale of goods in the course of ordinary activities is measured at the fair value of the consideration received
or receivable, net of returns, trade discounts and volume rebates.
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when all the following conditions have been satisfied:

the group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods;

the group retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership nor
effective control over the goods sold;

the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the group; and

the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.
1.17 Investment income
Investment income includes finance and dividend income.
Finance income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective interest method.
Dividend income, other than those from investments in associates, is recognised at the time that the right to receive payment is
established.
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1.18 Cost of sales
When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in which the
related revenue is recognised.
1.19 Borrowing costs
Finance costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset, form part of the
cost of that asset and may no longer be expensed.
All other borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.
1.20 Earnings per share
The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share ("EPS") data for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is calculated by
dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Group by the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the period, adjusted for own shares held. Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the profit or
loss attributable to ordinary shareholders and the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding, adjusted for
own shares held, for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares, which comprise convertible notes and share options
granted to employees.
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Group
31/08/10
R '000
2.

Company
2010
R '000

2011
R '000

2010
R '000

Property, plant and equipment

Group

2010

Unaudited
31/08/10
Cost

Accumulated Carrying value
depreciation

Land
Plant and machinery
Furniture and fixtures
Motor vehicles

*
*
*
*

*
*
*
*

Total

*

*

*
*
*
*
7 175

Accumulated Carrying value
depreciation

Cost
5 300
2 320
584
1 404

(1 200)
(488)
(515)

5 300
1 120
96
889

9 608

(2 203)

7 405

* A breakdown of property plant and equipment is unavailable. The totals are an extract of the interim results at 31 August
2010.
Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - Group - 31/08/10
Opening
balance

Land
Plant and machinery
Furniture and fixtures
Motor vehicles

Total
*
*
*
*

*
*
*
*

7 175

7 175

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - Group - 2010
Opening
balance
Land
Plant and machinery
Furniture and fixtures
Motor vehicles

35
37

Additions

Depreciation

Total

5 300
1 349
65
315

45
713

(229)
(14)
(139)

5 300
1 120
96
889

7 029

758

(382)

7 405
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Group
31/08/10
R '000
3.

Company
2010
R '000

2011
R '000

2010
R '000

Investments in subsidiaries

Name of company
African Magnets (Pty) Ltd
Century Electrical Wholesalers (Newcastle) (Pty) Ltd
Century Electrical Wholesalers Evander (Pty) Ltd
Magnetic Technology Consultants (Pty) Ltd
Castle Engineering Supplies (Vaal) (Pty) Ltd
Castle Engineering Suppliers (Evander) (Pty) Ltd
Castle Engineering Suppliers (Witbank) (Pty) Ltd
The Electro Magnet Company (Pty) Ltd
Mechani Mag (Pty) Ltd

Registration % holding % holding
Carrying
Carrying
number
2011
2010
amount 2011 amount 2010
1973/000563/
100
8 534
07
1973/003444/
100
07
1977/000367/
90
668
07
1983/007293/
100
120
07
1983/008001/
100
07
1983/008003/
74
3
07
1986/001827/
100
07
1972/003737/
100
15
07
1971/010652/
100
329
07

Impairment of investment in subsidiaries

-

9 669
(4 115)

-

5 554

The impairment of investments in subsidiaries has been reversed to profit and loss in the current financial year on disposal.
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Group
31/08/10
R '000
4.

Company
2010
R '000

2011
R '000

2010
R '000

Deferred tax

Deferred tax balances are as follows:
Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liability

*
*

393
(165)

15
-

15
-

267

228

15

15

*
*
*
*
*

(9)
290
(156)
77
26

15

15

267

228

15

15

228
39

(15)
243

15
-

15

267

228

15

15

Deferred tax balance
Accelerated capital allowances for tax purposes
Provident fund charges
Lease charges
Accruals
Other deferred tax

Reconciliation of deferred tax asset (liability)
At beginning of the year
Charge in income statement

The company will utilise the deferred tax asset against interest income
*

A breakdown of deferred tax is unavailable. The totals are an extract of the interim results at 31 August 2010.

Details of tax charge
Property, plant and equipment
Provident fund contributions
Lease charges
Accruals
Advance income
Other

5.

(1)
290
(36)
77
(113)
26

-

15
-

-

243

-

15

*
*

498
164
940

-

-

*

1 602

-

-

*
*

3 586
131

-

-

*

3 717

-

-

Inventories

Raw materials
Work in progress
Merchandise and finished goods

6.

-

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables
Other receivable

The carrying amount approximates to fair value.
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31/08/10
R '000

6.

31/08/10
R '000

Trade and other receivables (continued)

Group

Company
2010
R '000

2011
2010
R '000
R '000
Company

2010
R '000

2011
R '000

2010
R '000

All amounts are short term.
The
carrying
value receivables
of trade receivables
is considered a reasonable approximation of fair value.
6. net
Trade
and other
(continued)
Trade and other receivables have been reviewed for indicators of impairment. All amounts are considered to be recoverable
and
thereforeare
there
are
no impairment charges.
All amounts
short
term.
The net carrying value of trade receivables is considered a reasonable approximation of fair value.
Trade
other receivables
reviewed
for indicators of impairment. All amounts are considered to be recoverable
Trade and
and other
receivableshave
past been
due but
not impaired
and therefore there are no impairment charges.
The ageing of amounts past due but not impaired is as follows:
Trade and other receivables past due but not impaired
Over 60 days
514
The ageing of amounts past due but not impaired is as follows:
7.
Cash and cash equivalents
Over 60 days
514
Cash
and cash
consist
of:
All amounts
are equivalents
short term and
the carrying
values of cash and equivalents are considered to be a reasonable approximation of
fair value.
7.
Cash and cash equivalents
Bank balances
*
8 266
5 751
1 430
Cash and cash equivalents consist of:
8 369
8 266
5 751
1 430
* A breakdown of cash and cash equivalents is unavailable. The totals are an extract of the interim results at 31 August 2010.
Bank balances
*
8 266
5 751
1 430
8 369
8 266
5 751
1 430
8.
Share capital
* A breakdown of cash and cash equivalents is unavailable. The totals are an extract of the interim results at 31 August 2010.
Authorised
1 000
200
1 000
200
1 000Share
000 000
Ordinary shares of R0.001 each
8.
capital
(2010: 20 000 000 at R0.01)
Authorised
1 000
200
1 000
200
1 000 000 000 Ordinary shares of R0.001 each
Issued
(2010:
20
000
000
at
R0.01)
59 886 020 Ordinary shares of R 0.001 each
(2010: 9 600 000 at R0.01)
Issued
59 886 020 Ordinary shares of R 0.001 each
Reconciliation
(2010:
9 600 000ofatnumber
R0.01) of shares issued:

96

Share capital
96

96

62

Share 96 Share capital
62
premium
2 090
96
Share
2 090 Share capital
96
premium (34)
2 090
96

96

Share 96
premium
7 581
Share
7 581
premium
(4 060)
7 581

Opening carrying value at 1 March 2009
96
Reconciliation
of amount
number28
of February
shares issued:
Share capital
Closing
carrying
2010
96
Repurchase of shares and cancellation thereof
Opening carrying value at 1 March 2009
96
Closing carrying amount 31 August 2010
96
Closing carrying amount 28 February 2010
96
2 090
96
7 581
Closing carrying amount 28 February 2011
2 090
62
3 521
Repurchase of shares and cancellation thereof
(34)
(4 060)
Closing carrying amount 31 August 2010
96
940 113 980 unissued ordinary shares are under the control of the directors in terms of a resolution of members passed at the
Closing
carrying
28This
February
2011
2 090
62
3 521
last
annual
generalamount
meeting.
authority
remains in force until the next annual general meeting.
In a 113
special
passed on
15 November
the Company
increased
its authorised
shareofcapital
frompassed
20 000at000
940
980 resolution
unissued ordinary
shares
are under 2010,
the control
of the directors
in terms
of a resolution
members
the
ordinary
shares
of Rmeeting.
0.01 (one
cent)
each to
100 000
of R 0.01
(onemeeting.
cent) each, by the creation of 80 000
last
annual
general
This
authority
remains
in 000
forceordinary
until theshares
next annual
general
000 ordinary shares of R 0.01 (one cent) each.
In a special resolution passed on 15 November 2010, the Company increased its authorised share capital from 20 000 000
In
a special
resolution
passed
15 each
November
the Company
sub-divided
its authorised
from 100of000
ordinary
shares
of R 0.01
(oneon
cent)
to 1002010,
000 000
ordinary shares
of R 0.01
(one cent) share
each, capital
by the creation
80 000
000
ordinary
par value
of R(one
0.01cent)
(oneeach.
cent) each to 1 000 000 000 ordinary par value shares of R 0.001 (one tenth of one
000 ordinary
sharesshares
of R 0.01
cent) each.
In a special resolution passed on 15 November 2010, the Company sub-divided its authorised share capital from 100 000 000
ordinary par value shares of R 0.01 (one cent) each to 1 000 000 000 ordinary par value shares of R 0.001 (one tenth of one
cent) each.
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9.

Group
31/08/10
R '000

Group

31/08/10
R '000

Loans to (from) group companies

Subsidiaries
9.
Loans to (from) group companies
Mechani Mag (Pty) Ltd
Subsidiaries
Interest
loanLtd
at call rates repayable on demand.
Mechanibearing
Mag (Pty)

Company
2010
R '000

2011
2010
R '000
R '000
Company

2010
R '000

2011
R '000

2010
R '000

-

-

-

(1 642)

-

-

-

(1 642)

10. Trade and other payables
Interest bearing loan at call rates repayable on demand.
All amounts
are short term and the carrying values of trade and other payables*are considered
Trade
payables
2 885to be a reasonable
- approximation
Loan
from
J.C.
*
8
10.
andHerbst
other payables
of fairTrade
value.
Audit fees payable
*
388
55
Other payables
*
65112Trade
payables
2 768
885
Loan from J.C. Herbst
*
8
*
4 041
73
167Audit fees payable
*
388
55
Other payables
*
768
65
112
11. Revenue
*
4 041
73
167
Sale of manufactured goods
Sale of
finished goods
11.
Revenue

10 107
9 955

13 864
20 751

-

-

20 062
10 107
9 955

34 615
13 864
20 751

-

-

20 062
Operating profit (loss) for the year is stated after accounting for the following:
12. Operating profit
Income from subsidiaries
Operating profit (loss) for the year is stated after accounting for the following:
Dividends
Income from subsidiaries

34 615

-

-

-

6 730

-

Sale of manufactured goods
Sale of finished goods
12. Operating profit

Operating lease charges
Dividends
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment
Employee costs
Provident
Operating fund
leasecontributions
charges
Impairment ononinvestment
in subsidiaries
Depreciation
property, plant
and equipment
costsof operating profit is unavailable. The totals
*Employee
A breakdown
Provident
fundofcontributions
are
an extract
the interim results at 31 August 2010.
Impairment on investment in subsidiaries

*
**
**
**
*
*
*

860
3827 372
1 860
079
3827 372
1 079
-

6 730---

--4 1154 115

*13.A breakdown
ofrevenue
operating profit is unavailable. The totals
Investment
are an extract of the interim results at 31 August 2010.
Dividend revenue
Subsidiaries
13.
Investment revenue

-

-

6 730

-

132-

826-

6 45
730

598-

132

826

6 775

598

132

826

45

598

132

826

6 775

598

Group companies
14. Finance costs

-

-

-

421

Group companies

-

-

-

421

Dividend
revenue
Interest revenue
Subsidiaries
Bank
Interest revenue
Bank
14. Finance costs
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Group
31/08/10
R '000
15.

Company
2010
R '000

2011
R '000

2010
R '000

Taxation

Major components of the tax expense
Current
Local income tax - current period

*

901

Deferred
Property, plant and equipment
Provident fund contributions
Lease charges
Accruals
Advance income
Other deferred tax

*
*
*
*
*
*

1
(290)
36
(77)
113
(26)

-

(15)
-

*

(243)

-

(15)

31

15

519

658

31

-

Applicable tax rate

28.00

28.00

28.00

-

Non-taxable/disallowed items

6.35

(7.62)

(27.33)

-

34.35

20.38

0.67

-

978

2 541

4 566

-

-

1 081

Reconciliation of the tax expense
Reconciliation between applicable tax rate and average effective tax rate.

16.

Earnings per share

Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the
parent entity
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries
Headline earnings
Weighted average number of ordinary shares (basic
and headline)

978
96 000*

Basic earnings per share (cents) from continuing operations

-

Basic earnings per share (cents) from discontinued operations

1.02

Headline earnings per share (cents) from continuing operations
Headline earnings per share (cents) from discontinued operations

-

2 541
96 000*
2.65
-

5 647
85 611
5.33
6.60

1.02

2.65

-

*

436

50

There are no dilutive instruments.
*
17.

Adjusted for subdivision of shares.
Auditor’s remuneration

Audit fees

* A breakdown of auditor’s remuneration is unavailable. The totals are an extract of the interim results at 31 August 2010.
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Group
31/08/10
R '000
18.

2010
R '000

2011
R '000

2010
R '000

Cash generated from (used in) operations

Profit before taxation
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries
Dividends received
Interest received
Finance costs
Impairment loss
Loans from group companies repaid
Changes in working capital:
Decrease/(increase) in inventories
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables
Trade and other payables

19.

Company

*

3 229

4 597

(4 114)

*
*
*
*
*
*
*

382
(826)
-

1 081
(6 730)
(45)
(1 263)

(598)
421
4 115
-

*
*
*

(102)
1 704
(446)

(94)

(47)

*

3 941

(2 454)

(223)

(24)
(31)
55

(9)
(15)
24

Tax paid

Balance at beginning of the year
Current tax for the year recognised in profit or loss
Balance at end of the year

*
*
*

(1 823)
(901)
397

*

(2 327)

-

-

-

-

* A breakdown of tax paid is unavailable. The totals are an
extract of the interim results at 31 August 2010.
20.

Commitments

Operating leases – as lessee (expense)
Minimum lease payments due
- within one year

-

4143

632

Capricorn Investment Holdings Limited

(Registration number 1987/004821/06)
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 28 February 2011

Notes to the annual financial statements
Group
31/08/10
R '000
21.

Company
2010
R '000

2011
R '000

2010
R '000

Disposal of subsidiaries

In a SENS announcement dated 14 May 2010, the board of directors announced the disposal of all subsidiaries of Capricorn.
The details of the companies disposed of are detailed below. The disposal resulted in Capricorn being classified as a “cash
shell” in terms of the Listing Requirements and it should, within a 6 month period after such classification, enter into an
agreement relating to the acquisition of viable assets that satisfy the conditions for listing in terms of the Listing Requirements
if Capricorn is to remain a listed entity.
The disposal of subsidiaries of Capricorn constitutes an affected transaction in terms of the Securities Regulation Code on
Takeovers and Mergers in terms of the Companies Act (No. 61 of 1973) and was, in terms of the Listing Requirements, a
related party transaction. The board of directors has obtained a fairness opinion from an independent professional expert
advising on the fairness of the disposal, which was detailed in a circular to shareholders dated 22 October 2010.
All subsidiaries were disposed of on 20 December 2010 for a total consideration of R 4 093 000. This resulted in a loss on sale
of investments of R 1 081 000.
20
2011
%
%
Name of
RegisDate and Issued
Cost10of Due
Date of
Cost of
Due by
subsidiary
tration
place of share held shares
by
disposal held shares company
number
Incorp- capital
comoration
pany
R
292

%
100

R'000
8 534

R'000
- 20/12/2010

%
-

100

100

-

- 20/12/2010

-

-

-

11/02/77
Pretoria

200

90

658

- 20/12/2010

-

-

-

1983/007293
/07

15/07/83
Pretoria

6 000

100

120

- 20/12/2010

-

-

-

1983/008001
/07

02/06/83
Pretoria

100

100

-

- 20/12/2010

-

-

-

1983/008003
/07

02/08/83
Pretoria

100

74

3

- 20/12/2010

-

-

-

1986/001827
/07

01/05/86
Pretoria

100

100

-

- 20/12/2010

-

-

-

1972/003737
/07
1971/010652
/07

10/04/72
Pretoria

6 000

100

15

- 20/12/2010

-

-

-

20/09/71

2

100

329

(1
20/12/2010
642)

-

-

-

-

-

African Magnets
(Pty) Ltd
Century Electrical
Wholesalers
(Newcastle) (Pty)
Ltd
Century Electrical
Wholesalers
(Evander) (Pty) Ltd

1973/000563
/07
1973/003444
/07

15/01/73
Pretoria
19/03/73
Pretoria

1977/000367
/07

Magnetic
Technology
Consultants (Pty)
Ltd
Castle
Engineering
Supplies (Vaal)
(Pty) Ltd
Castle
Engineering
Supplies
(Evander) (Pty)
Ltd
Castle
Engineering
Supplies
(Witbank) (Pty)
Ltd
The Electro Magnet
Company (Pty) Ltd
Machani Mag (Pty)
Ltd
Total cost
Less Impairment
Total

9 669
(4 115)
5 554
42
44

(1 642)

R'000

-

R'000

-
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Group
31/08/10
R '000
22.

Company
2010
R '000

2011
R '000

2010
R '000

Related parties

Subsidiaries

Refer to note 3

Directors and key management staff
See note 23 for details of compensation
of key personnel
Related party balances
Loan accounts - Owing (to) by related parties
Machani Mag (Pty) Ltd
J.C. Herbst

-

-

(8)

(1 642)
-

-

-

-

371
50

154
71
108

Total
2 663
422
1 070

333

4 155

Related party transactions
Interest paid to (received from) related parties
Mechani Mag (Pty) Ltd
African Magnets (Pty) Ltd
23.

Directors' emoluments

Executive
2010
V. Farkas
C.J.B. Roux
J.J. Farkas

Salaries/Fees Fringe Benefit Provident Fund
1 420
53
1 036
257
51
43
962
2 639

104

1 079

2011
Salaries/Fees Fringe Benefit Provident Fund
There was no remuneration paid to directors for the
financial year ended 28 February 2011
-

-

Bonus

Bonus

-

Total

-

-

24. Risk management
The Group and the Company is exposed to various risks in relation to financial instruments. The Group's financial assets and
financial liabilities by category are summarised in the accounting policies for financial instruments. The main types of risk are
credit risk and interest risk.
24.1

Interest rate risk

The Group and the Company are exposed to interest rate risk on funds with the company's bankers. Total funds deposited at
the financial year end amounted to R 5.7 million (2010: R 8.2 million).
Should there have been a 1% hike in interest rates this would have increased profits before tax by R 57 000. In 2010 this was
insignificant.
24.2

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet
its contractual obligations.
The Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer.
Credit risk is managed on a Group and a Company basis.
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Group
31/08/10
R '000

Company
2010
R '000

2011
R '000

2010
R '000

24.2 Credit Risk (continued)
The Group continuously monitors default of customers and other counter parties, identified either individually or as a Group and
incorporates this information into its credit risk controls.
External credit ratings and or reports on customers and counter parties are obtained and used. The Group's policy is to deal
only with suitably creditworthy counterparties.
The Group and the Company establishes an allowance for impairment that represents its estimate of incurred losses in respect
of trade and other receivables and investments. The main components of this allowance are a specific loss component that
relates to individually significant exposures, and a collective loss component established for groups of similar assets in respect
of losses that have been incurred but not yet identified. The collective loss allowance is determined based on the historical data
of payment statistics for similar financial assets.
The Group and the Company's management considers that all the above financial assets that are not impaired or past due for
each of the reporting dates under review are of good credit quality.
The Group and the Company have performed a detailed analysis of all past due amounts. Overdue amounts that have not
been impaired are considered to be recoverable.
The credit risk for cash and cash equivalents are considered negligible, since the counterparties are reputable banks with high
quality credit ratings.
24.3

Liquidity risk

Classes of financial assets - loans and receivables

31/08/10

Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

-

Classes of financial liabilities - at amortised cost

31/08/10

Borrowings
Trade and other payables
24.4

2010

Financial liability payment timeline

Group
The Group's contractual maturities are summarised below:
At 31 August 2010

Within 12
months

Trade and other payables
Bank overdraft

*
*

* A breakdown of trade and other payables and
bank overdraft is unavailable. The totals are an
extract of the interim results at 31 August 2010.
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2011

4 041
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2010
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2011

1 430
2010

-

1 642
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Group
31/08/10
R '000
24.

Company
2010
R '000

2011
R '000

2010
R '000

Risk management (continued)

At 28 February 2010

Within 12
months
4 041

Trade and other payables
Company
The Company's contractual maturities are summarised below:
At 28 February 2011

Within12
months
73

Trade and other payables
At 28 February 2010

Within 12
months

Loans from group companies
Trade and other payables
25.

1 642
167

Business segments

All current year operations have been discontinued. Therefore, all current year segmental results are disclosed as discontinued
operations.
Geographical segments
Identified geographical segments are the same as business segments.
-

Manufacturing:
Wholesaling:

Gauteng
Mpumalanga

Group
Manufacturing Wholesaling

Revenue
31/08/2010
2010
Operating profit
31/08/2010
2010
Assets employed
31/08/2010
2010

Total

10 107
13 864

9 955
20 751

20 062
34 615

1 193
1 744

186
659

1 379
2 403

*
17 278

3 940

*

26 778
21 218

* Please note that a further breakdown of this amount is unavailable and the total has been taken from a previous SENS
announcement.
Company
There are no operating segments as the company is a cash shell.
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26.

New Standards and Interpretations

26.1 Standards and interpretations effective and adopted in the current year
The following standards and interpretations relates to the operations of Capricorn and have been adopted in the current year:
Standard/Interpretation
Effective date
IFRS 2, Share Based
Payments
IFRS 5, Non-current
Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations
IFRS 8, Operating
Segments
IAS 1, Presentation of
Financial Statements
IAS 7, Statement of Cash
Flows
IAS 17, Leases
IAS 36, Impairment of
Assets
IAS 39, Financial
Instruments: Recognition
and Measurement

Amendments relating to group cash-settled sharebased payment transactions – clarity of the definition of
the term “Group” and where in a group share based
payments must be accounted for.
Disclosures of non-current assets (or disposal groups)
classified as held for sale or discontinued operations

Annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2010
Annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2010

Disclosure of information about segment assets

Annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2010
Current/non-current classification of convertible
Annual periods beginning
instruments
on or after 1 January 2010
Classification of expenditures on unrecognised assets Annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2010
Classification of leases of land and buildings
Annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2010
Unit of accounting for goodwill impairment test
Annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2010
- Treating loan prepayment penalties as closely related Annual periods beginning
embedded derivatives
on or after 1 January 2010
- Scope exemption for business combination contracts
- Cash flow hedge accounting

26.2 Standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective
At the date of authorisation of the annual financial statements of Capricorn Investment Holdings Limited for the year
ended 28 February 2011, the following Standards and Interpretations were in issue but not yet effective:
Standard/Interpretation

Effective date

IFRS 1, First-time Adoption - Amendment relieves first-time adopters of IFRSs from
providing the additional disclosures introduced through
of International Financial
Amendments to IFRS 7 in March 2009
Reporting Standards
- Amendment clarifies that changes in accounting
policies in the year of adoption fall outside of the scope
of IAS 8
- Amendment permits the use of revaluation carried
out after the date of transition as a basis for deemed
cost
- Amendment permits the use of carrying amount
under previous GAAP as deemed cost for operations
subject to rate regulation
- Standard amended to provide guidance for entities
emerging from severe hyperinflation and resuming
presentation of IFRS compliant financial statements, or
presenting IFRS complaint financial statements for the
first time.
- Standard amended to remove the fixed date of 1
January 2004 relating to the retrospective application
of the derecognition requirements of IAS 39, and relief
for first-time adopters from calculating day 1 gains on
transactions that occurred before the date of adoption
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26. New Standards and Interpretations (continued)
IFRS 3, Business
Amendments to transition requirements for contingent
Combinations
consideration from a business combination that
occurred before the effective date of the revised IFRS
- Clarification on the measurement of noncontrolling interests
- Additional guidance provided on un-replaced and
voluntarily replaced share-based payment awards
IFRS 7, Financial
Amendment clarifies the intended interaction between
qualitative and quantitative disclosures of the nature
Instruments: Disclosure
and extent of risks arising from financial instruments
and removed some disclosure items which were seen
to be superfluous or misleading
- Amendments require additional disclosure on
transfer transactions of financial assets, including the
possible effects of any residual risks that the
transferring entity retains. The amendments also
require additional disclosures if a disproportionate
amount of transfer transactions are undertaken around
the end of a reporting period
- Amendments require entities to disclose gross
amounts subject to rights of set-off, amounts set off in
accordance with the accounting standards followed,
and the related net credit exposure. This information
will help investors understand the extent to which an
entity has set off in its balance sheet and the effects of
rights of set-off on the entity’s rights and obligations
IFRS 9, Financial
New standard that forms the first part of a three-part
project to replace IAS 39 Financial Instruments:
Instruments
Recognition and Measurement
IFRS 10, Consolidated
New standard that replaces the consolidation
requirements in SIC-12 Consolidation—Special
Financial Statements
Purpose Entities and IAS 27 Consolidated and
Separate Financial Statements. Standard builds on
existing principles by identifying the concept of control
as the determining factor in whether an entity should be
included within the consolidated financial statements of
the parent company and provides additional guidance
to assist in the determination of control where this is
difficult to assess
IFRS 11, Joint Ventures
New standard that deals with the accounting for joint
arrangements and focuses on the rights and
obligations of the arrangement, rather than its legal
form. Standard requires a single method for accounting
for interests in jointly controlled entities
IFRS 12, Disclosure of
New and comprehensive standard on disclosure
Interests in Other Entities requirements for all forms of interests in other entities,
including joint arrangements, associates, special
purpose vehicles and other off balance sheet vehicles
IFRS 13, Fair Value
New guidance on fair value measurement and
disclosure requirements
Measurement
IAS 1, Presentation of
- Clarification of statement of changes in equity
Financial Statements
- New requirements to group together items within OCI
that may be reclassified to the profit or loss section of
the income statement in order to facilitate the
assessment of their impact on the overall performance
of an entity.
IAS 12, Income Taxes
Rebuttable presumption introduced that an investment
property will be recovered in its entirety through sale.
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Annual periods beginning
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Annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2013

Annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2015
Annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2013

Annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2013

Annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2013
Annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2013
Annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2011
Annual periods beginning
on or after 1 July 2012

Annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2012
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Notes to the annual financial statements
26. New Standards and Interpretations (continued)
IAS 19, Employee Benefits Amendments to the accounting for current and future
obligations resulting from the provision of defined
benefit plans
Consequential amendments from changes to IAS 27
IAS 21, The Effects of
Changes in Foreign
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements
(Clarification on the transition rules in respect of the
Exchange Rates
disposal or partial disposal of an interest in a foreign
operation)
IAS 24, Related Party
- Simplification of the disclosure requirements for
Disclosures
government-related entities
- Clarification of the definition of a related party
IAS 27, Consolidated and - Transition requirements for amendments arising as a
Separate Financial
result of IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements
Statements
- Consequential amendments resulting from the
issue of IFRS 10,11 and 12
IAS 28, Investments in
- Consequential amendments from changes to IAS 27
Associates
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements
(Clarification on the transition rules in respect of the
disposal or partial disposal of an interest in a foreign
operation)
- Consequential amendments resulting from the
issue of IFRS 10,11 and 12
IAS 31, Interests in Joint
Consequential amendments from changes to IAS 27
Ventures
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements
(Clarification on the transition rules in respect of the
disposal or partial disposal of an interest in a foreign
operation)
IAS 32, Financial
Accounting for rights issues (including rights, options or
Instruments: Presentation warrants) that are denominated in a currency other
than the functional currency of the issuer
- Amendments require entities to disclose gross
amounts subject to rights of set-off, amounts set off in
accordance with the accounting standards followed,
and the related net credit exposure. This information
will help investors understand the extent to which an
entity has set off in its balance sheet and the effects of
rights of set-off on the entity’s rights and obligations
IAS 34, Interim Financial
Clarification of disclosure requirements around
Reporting
significant events and transactions including financial
instruments

Annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2013
Annual periods beginning
on or after 1 July 2010

Annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2011
Annual periods beginning
on or after 1 July 2010
Annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2013
Annual periods beginning
on or after 1 July 2010

Annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2013
Annual periods beginning
on or after 1 July 2010

Annual periods beginning
on or after 1 February
2010
Annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2013

Annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2011

All Standards and Interpretations will be adopted at their effective date (except for those Standards and Interpretations that are
not applicable to the entity). None of these is expected to have a significant effect on the consolidated annual financial
statements of the Group, except for IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, IFRS 10 Consolidated annual Financial Statements, IFRS
11 Joint Arrangements, IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities, IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement and IAS 28
Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures (2011) which becomes mandatory for the consolidated annual financial
statements beginning on 1 March 2013.
IFRS9(2009)Financial Instruments
The standard will be applied retrospectively, subject to transitional provisions.
IFRS 9 (2009) addresses the initial measurement and classification of financial assets and will replace the relevant sections of
IAS 39.
Under IFRS 9 (2009) there are two options in respect of classification of financial assets, namely, financial assets measured at
amortised cost or at fair value. Financial assets are measured at amortised cost when the business model is to hold assets in
order to collect contractual cash flows and when they give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal outstanding. All other financial assets are measured at fair value. Embedded derivatives are no
longer separated from hybrid contracts that have a financial asset host.
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26.

New Standards and Interpretations (continued)

The extent of the impact is uncertain and has not yet been determined.
IFRS9(2010) Financial Instruments
The standard will be applied retrospectively, subject to transitional provisions.
IFRS 9 (2010) addresses the measurement and classification of financial liabilities and will replace the relevant sections of IAS
39.
Under IFRS 9 (2010), the classification and measurement requirements of financial liabilities are the same as per IAS
39, except for the following two aspects:
•

fair value changes for financial liabilities (other than financial guarantees and loan commitments) designated at
fair value through profit or loss that are attributable to the changes in the credit risk of the liability will be presented in
other comprehensive income (OCI). The remaining amount of the fair value change is recognised in profit or loss.
However, if this requirement creates or enlarges an accounting mismatch in profit or loss, then the whole fair value
change is presented in profit or loss. The determination as to whether such presentation would create or enlarge an
accounting mismatch is made on initial recognition and is not subsequently reassessed.

•

Under IFRS 9 (2010) derivative liabilities that are linked to and must be settled by delivery of an unquoted
equity instrument whose fair value cannot be reliably measured, are measured at fair value.

IFRS 9 (2010) incorporates, the guidance in IAS 39 dealing with fair value measurement and accounting for derivatives
embedded in a host contract that is not a financial asset, as well as the requirements of IFRIC 9 Reassessment of Embedded
Derivatives.
The extent of the impact is uncertain and has not been determined
IFRS10Consolidated Financial Statements
The standard will be applied retrospectively if there is a change in the control conclusion between IAS 27/SIC 12 and IFRS 10.
IFRS 10 introduces a single control model to assess whether an investee should be consolidated. This control model requires
entities to perform the following in determining whether control exists:
•

Identify how decisions about the relevant activities are made,

•

Assess whether the entity has power over the relevant activities by considering only the entity’s substantive rights,

•

Assess whether the entity is exposed to variability in returns, and

•

Assess whether the entity is able to use its power over the investee to affect returns for its own benefit

Control should be assessed on a continuous basis and should be reassessed as facts and circumstances change.
The extent of the impact is uncertain and has not yet been determined
IFRS11Joint Arrangements
The standard will be applied retrospectively, subject to certain transitional provisions.
IFRS 11 establishes that classification of the joint arrangement depends on whether parties have rights to and obligations for
the underlying assets and liabilities.
According to IFRS 11, joint arrangements are divided into two types, each having its own accounting model.
•

Joint operations whereby the jointly controlling parties, known as joint operators, have rights and obligations for the
liabilities, relating to the arrangement.
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26.
•

New Standards and Interpretations (continued)
Joint ventures whereby the joint controlling parties, known as joint venturers, have rights to the net assets of
the arrangement.

In terms of IFRS 11, all joint ventures will have to be equity accounted. This is consistent with the current treatment of joint
ventures.
The extent of any other impact is uncertain and has not been determined
IFRS12Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
IFRS 12 combines, in a single standard, the disclosure requirements for subsidiaries, associates and joint arrangements, as
well as unconsolidated structured entities.
The required disclosures aim to provide information to enable user to evaluate:
•

the nature of, and risks associated with, an entity’s interests in other entities, and

•

the effects of those interests on the entity’s financial position, financial performance and cash flows.

The adoption of the new standard will increase the level of disclosure provided for the entity’s interests in subsidiaries, joint
arrangements, associates and structured entities.
The extent of the impact is uncertain and has not been determined
IFRS13Fair Value Measurement
The standard will be applied prospectively and comparatives will not be restated.
IFRS 13 introduces a single source of guidance on fair value measurement for both financial and non-financial assets
and liabilities by defining fair value, establishing a framework for measuring fair value and setting out disclosures
requirements for fair value measurements. The key principles in IFRS 13 are as follows:
•

Fair value is an exit price

•

Measurement considers characteristics of the asset or liability and not entity-specific characteristics

•

Measurement assumes a transaction in the entity’s principle
participants

•

Price is not adjusted for transaction costs

•

Measurement maximises the use of relevant observable inputs and minimises the use of unobservable inputs

•

The three-level fair value hierarchy is extended to all fair value measurements

(or most advantageous) market between market

The extent of the impact is uncertain and has not been determined
IAS28(2011)Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures
IAS 28 (2011) supersedes IAS 28 (2008) and carries forward the existing accounting and disclosure requirements with limited
amendments. These include:
•

IFRS 5 is applicable to an investment, or a portion of an investment, in an associate or a joint venture that meets the
criteria to be classified as held-for-sale; and

•

on cessation of significant influence or joint control, even if an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a
joint venture or vice versa, the company does not re-measure the retained interest.

The extent of the impact is uncertain and has not been determined.
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Group
1.

Company

Shareholders holding more than 5 % of the share capital
No. of
shares
34 076 920
20 082 760

%
Holding
56.90
33.54

54 159 680

90.44

No. of
shareholders
139
2

No. of
shares
5 726 340
54 159 680

%
Holding
9.56
90.44

141

59 886 020

100.00

No. of
shareholders
127
3
3
8

No. of
shares
59 297 460
100 010
258 000
230 550

%
Holding
99.02
0.17
0.43
0.38

141

59 886 020

100.00

Elaine Marsha Greenblatt
James Charles Herbst

2.

Shareholder spread

Public
Directors of Capricorn Investment Holdings Limited

3.

Categories of shareholders

Individuals
Nominees and trusts
Close corporations
Companies, financial institutions and other institutions

4.

Size of shareholding

Heading
0 - 1 000
1 001 - 5 000
5 001 - 100 000
100 001 - 1 000 000
1 000 001 and over

No. of
shareholders
19
17
89
14
2

No. of
shares
18 010
66 590
2 666 520
2 975 220
54 159 680

141

59 886 020

%
Holding

The supplementary information presented does not form part of the annual financial statements and is unaudited.
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0.03
0.11
4.45
4.97
90.44

100.00
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Shareholder’s Diary
28 February28
2011
February 2011

Financial Year-end
•

Record date for posting of annual reports

•

Record date for inclusion in the register to be entitled to
vote at the meeting

•

Annual General Meeting date

•

Next interim period

6 February292012
February 2012
24 February 2012
30 March 2012
13 March 20125 April 2012
31 August 2011
31 August 2011
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BA McQueen (Chairman)*#

CE Pettit*

JC Herbst (CEO)

EM Greenblatt*

SP Tredoux (Financial Director)

KD Jarvis*#

* - Non-executive, # - Independent
NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF THE SHAREHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY
Notice is hereby given that the annual general meeting of shareholders of the Company will be held in the boardroom, Arcay
House II Boardroom, Number 3, Anerley Road, Parktown, Johannesburg, 2193 at 10:00 on Thursday, 5 April 2012, to consider
and, if deemed fit, to pass, with or without modification, the following ordinary and special resolutions:
Electronic Participation in the Annual General Meeting
Please note that the Company intends to make provisions for shareholders of the Company, or their proxies, to participate in the
annual general meeting by way of electronic communication. Should you wish to participate in the annual general meeting by way
of electronic communication, you will need to contact the Company at +27 11 480 8686 by Friday, 30 March 2012, so that the
Company can provide for a teleconference dial-in facility. Please ensure that if you are participating in the meeting via
teleconference that the voting proxies be sent through to the transfer secretaries, namely Computershare Investor Services (Pty)
Ltd, 70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg 2001 (PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107) by no later than 10h00 on Tuesday, 3 April
2012. No changes to voting instructions after this time and date can be accepted unless the Chairman of the meeting is satisfied
as to the identification of the electronic participant.
The board of directors of the Company has determined that the record date for the purpose of determining which shareholders of
the Company are entitled to receive notice of this annual general meeting is Wednesday, 29 February 2012 and the record date
for purposes of determining which shareholders of the Company are entitled to participate in and vote at the annual general
meeting is Friday, 30 March 2012. The last date to trade to qualify for the record date for purposes of participating in and voting
at the annual general meeting is Friday, 23 March 2012. Accordingly, only shareholders who are registered in the register of
members of the Company on Friday, 30 March 2012 will be entitled to participate in and vote at the annual general meeting.
Section 63(1) of the Companies Act requires that a person wishing to participate in the annual general meeting (including any
representative or proxy) must provide satisfactory identification (such as identity documents, driver’s licences or passports) before
they may attend or participate at such annual general meeting.
Ordinary resolution number 1 – Adoption of the Annual Financial Statements
“RESOLVED THAT the annual financial statements of the Company for the period ended 28 February 2011, together with the
directors’ and auditors’ reports thereon and the audit committee report, be received, considered and adopted.”
Explanatory Note:
The annual financial statements are required to be adopted in terms of the Companies Act, 2008 (No. 71 of 2008). The minimum
number of votes that is required to pass ordinary resolution 1 is a percentage equal to 50% (fifty percent) of the voting rights that
are present in person, or by proxy, at the meeting plus 1 (one) vote.
Ordinary resolution number 2 – Appointment of a director – CE Pettit
“RESOLVED THAT the interim appointment of CE Pettit as a non-executive director of the Company on 19 July 2011 be ratified,
and the appointment of CE Pettit who retires in accordance with the provisions of the Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation
and offers himself for re-election as a non-executive director of the Company, with effect from 5 April 2012, be and is hereby
approved.”
Mr CE Pettit’s curriculum vitae is set out at the end of this notice of annual general meeting.
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Ordinary resolution number 3 – Appointment of a director – JC Herbst
“RESOLVED THAT the appointment of JC Herbst, who retires in accordance with the provisions of the Company’s Memorandum
of Incorporation and offers himself for re-election, as a non-executive director of the Company with effect from 5 April 2012 be and
is hereby approved.”
Mr JC Herbst’s curriculum vitae is set out at the end of this notice of annual general meeting.
Ordinary resolution number 4 – Appointment of a director – SP Tredoux
“RESOLVED THAT the appointment of SP Tredoux, who retires in accordance with the provisions of the Company’s
Memorandum of Incorporation and offers himself for re-election, as an independent non-executive director of the Company with
effect from 5 April 2012 be and is hereby approved.”
Mr SP Tredoux’s curriculum vitae is set out at the end of this notice of annual general meeting.
Ordinary resolution number 5 – Retirement of a director – EM Greenblatt
“RESOLVED THAT the retirement of EM Greenblatt, who retires in accordance with the provisions of the Company’s
Memorandum of Incorporation and who does not offer herself for re-election, be and is hereby approved.”
Explanatory note for ordinary resolution 3, ordinary resolution 4, and ordinary resolution 5:
In accordance with the Memorandum of Incorporation of the Company, one-third of the directors are required to retire at each
meeting and may offer themselves for re-election. In terms of the Memorandum of Incorporation of the Company, the CEO,
during the period of his service contract, is not taken into account when determining which directors are to retire by rotation.
Ordinary resolution number 6 – Appointment and remuneration of the auditor – Horwath Leveton Boner
“RESOLVED THAT the reappointment of Horwath Leveton Boner as auditor of the Company, with Mr Selwyn Bloch as the
designated auditor at partner status, be and is hereby approved.”
Explanatory note:
Horwath Leveton Boner has indicated its willingness to continue as the Company’s auditor until the next annual general meeting.
The members of the Company’s Combined Audit and Risk Committee have satisfied themselves as to the independence of
Horwath Leveton Boner. The Company’s Combined Audit and Risk Committee has the power in terms of the Companies Act,
2008 (No. 71 of 2008) to approve the remuneration of the external auditor. The remuneration and non-audit fees paid to the
auditor during the year ended 28 February 2011 are contained in note 17.
Ordinary resolution number 7 – Ratification of appointment of a member to the Combined Audit and Risk Committee –
KD Jarvis
“RESOLVED THAT the appointment of KD Jarvis as a member of the Combined Audit and Risk Committee be and is hereby
ratified.”
Mr Jarvis’ curriculum vitae is set out at the end of this notice of annual general meeting.
Ordinary resolution number 8 – Ratification of appointment of a member to the Combined Audit and Risk Committee –
BA McQueen
“RESOLVED THAT the appointment of BA McQueen as a member of the Combined Audit and Risk Committee be and is hereby
ratified.”
Mr McQueen’s curriculum vitae is set out at the end of this notice of annual general meeting.
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Ordinary resolution number 9 – Ratification of appointment of a member to the Combined Audit and Risk Committee –
EM Greenblatt
“RESOLVED THAT the appointment of EM Greenblatt as a member of the Combined Audit and Risk Committee be and is
hereby ratified.”
Mrs EM Greenblatt’s curriculum vitae is set out at the end of this notice of annual general meeting.
Explanatory Note for ordinary resolutions 7, 8 and 9:
In terms of Section 61 (8)(c)(ii) of the Companies Act, 2008 (No. 71 of 2008), shareholders are required to approve the
appointment of the members of the audit committee. These above-mentioned directors acted as members on the Combined Audit
and Risk Committee during the year under review and up until the date of this annual general meeting and accordingly their
appointments require ratification.
New committee members’ appointments will be presented to shareholders for approval at the general meeting to be held in terms
of the reverse-listing and acquisition of WUC as detailed in the circular to shareholders to be published on or about 1 March 2012.
The minimum number of votes that is required to pass ordinary resolutions 2 to 9 is a percentage equal to 50% (fifty percent) of
the voting rights that are present in person, or by proxy, at the meeting plus 1 (one) vote.
Ordinary resolution number 10 – Approval of Remuneration Policy
“RESOLVED THAT the shareholders endorse, by way of a non-binding advisory vote, the Company’s remuneration policy
(excluding the remuneration of the non-executive directors and the members of board committees for their services as directors
and members of committees), as set out below, be and is hereby approved.”
The Remuneration Policy will be reviewed annually. The following is a summary of the Remuneration Policy of the Company:
1.

2.

3.

4.

5.

Objective
Under the overriding guidance of the Combined Remuneration and Nomination Committee, ensure the integrity,
transparency and legitimacy of remuneration within the Company including the development and implementation of related
policies, programmes, practices and decisions.
Key Policy
a. Non-discriminatory practice - remuneration policy directives and practices will be free of unfair distinction.
b. Internal equity – transparent, equitable and consistent application.
c. External parity - competitive remuneration based on remuneration trends.
d. Performance based – direct link between remuneration and performance.
e. Motivation – integral component of employee motivation.
Consideration
a. Company viability – budgetary constraints as determined by the board.
b. Company performance – target achievement and wealth generation.
c. Retention of key skills.
d. Sustainability.
e. Career development.
Application
a. Cost to company – flexible total package structure.
b. Balance – basic salary versus performance reward.
c. Shares – implementation of appropriate share incentive scheme/s for management.
Directors remuneration
a. Executive directors – determined by the Combined Remuneration and Nomination Committee, approved thereafter by
the board.
b. Non-executive directors – determined by the executive directors, but pre-approved by shareholders.

Explanatory Note:
Chapter 2 of King III dealing with boards and directors requires companies to table their remuneration policy to shareholders for a
non-binding advisory vote at the annual general meeting. This vote enables shareholders to express their views on the
remuneration policies adopted and on their implementation.
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This ordinary resolution is of an advisory nature only and failure to pass this resolution will therefore not have any legal
consequences relating to existing arrangements. However, the board will take the outcome of the vote into consideration when
considering the Company’s remuneration policy. Nevertheless, for record purposes, The minimum number of votes that is
required to pass ordinary resolution 10 is a percentage equal to 50% (fifty percent) of the voting rights that are present in person,
or by proxy, at the meeting plus 1 (one) vote.
Ordinary resolution number 11 – Placing the unissued shares under the control of the directors
“RESOLVED THAT the authorised, but unissued ordinary shares, in the capital of the Company be placed under the control of
the directors of the Company until the next annual general meeting of the Company and that the directors be and are hereby
authorised and empowered to allot, issue and otherwise dispose of such shares, on such terms and conditions and at such times
as the directors in their discretion deem fit, subject to the JSE Listings Requirements.”
Explanatory note:
Shareholders are requested to approve the placing of unissued shares under the control of the directors in order to facilitate
potential acquisitions or the issue of shares for cash. The minimum number of votes that is required to pass ordinary resolution
11 is a percentage equal to 50% (fifty percent) of the voting rights that are present in person, or by proxy, at the meeting plus 1
(one) vote.
Ordinary resolution number 12 – General authority to allot and issue shares for cash
“RESOLVED THAT, subject to the approval of 75% of the members present in person and by proxy and entitled to vote at the
meeting, the directors of the Company be and hereby are authorised, by way of general authority, to allot and issue all or any of
the authorised, but unissued shares, in the capital of the Company as they in their discretion deem fit, subject to the following
limitations:
−
the shares which are the subject of an issue for cash must be of a class already in issue, or where this is not the case,
must be limited to such equity securities or rights that are convertible into a class already in issue; and
−
this authority shall not endure beyond the next annual general meeting of the Company nor shall it endure beyond 15
months from the date of this meeting; and
−
there will be no restrictions in regard to the persons to whom shares may be issued, provided that such shares are to be
issued to public shareholders (as defined by the JSE Limited (“JSE”) in its Listings Requirements) and not to related
parties; and
−
upon any issue of shares which, together with prior issues during any financial year, will constitute 5% or more of the
number of shares of the class in issue, the Company shall by way of an announcement on Securities Exchange News
Service (“SENS”) give full details thereof, including the effect on the net asset value of the Company and earnings per
share; and
−
the aggregate issue of a class of shares already in issue in any financial year may not exceed 15% of the number of that
class of shares (including securities which are compulsorily convertible into shares of that class); and
−
the maximum discount at which shares may be issued is 10% of the weighted average traded price of the Company’s
shares over the 30 business days prior to the date that the price of the issue is determined or agreed by the directors of the
applicant.”
Explanatory Note:
In terms of the Company’s memorandum of incorporation, read with the JSE Listings Requirements, the shareholders may
authorise the directors to allot and issue the authorised but unissued shares for cash, as the directors in their discretion think fit.
The minimum number of votes that is required to pass ordinary resolution 12 is a percentage equal to 75% (fifty percent) of the
voting rights that are present in person, or by proxy, at the meeting plus 1 (one) vote.
Special resolution number 1: General authority to acquire (repurchase) shares
“RESOLVED THAT, subject to the approval of 75% of the members present in person and by proxy and entitled to vote at the
meeting, the Company and/or any subsidiary of the Company is hereby authorised, by way of a general authority, from time to
time to acquire ordinary and/or preference shares in the share capital of the Company from any person in accordance with the
requirements of the Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation, the Companies Act and the JSE Listings Requirements, provided
that:
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any such acquisition of ordinary and/or preference shares shall be effected through the order book operated by the JSE
trading system and done without any prior understanding or arrangement with the counterparty; and
this general authority shall be valid until the earlier of the Company’s next annual general meeting or the variation or
revocation of such general authority by special resolution at any subsequent general meeting of the Company, provided
that it shall not extend beyond 15 months from the date of passing of this special resolution number 1; and
an announcement is published as soon as the Company, or any of its subsidiary companies, has acquired ordinary and/or
preference shares constituting, on a cumulative basis, 3% of the number of ordinary and/or preference shares in issue and
for each 3% in aggregate of the initial number acquired thereafter, in compliance with paragraph 11.27 of the JSE Listings
Requirements; and
acquisitions of shares in aggregate in any one financial year may not exceed 5% of the Company’s issued ordinary and/or
issued preference share capital, as the case may be, as at the date of passing of this special resolution number 1; and
ordinary and/or preference shares may not be acquired at a price greater than 10% above the weighted average of the
market value at which such ordinary and/or preference shares are traded on the JSE as determined over the five business
days immediately preceding the date of acquisition of such ordinary and/or preference shares; and
the Company has been given authority by its Memorandum of Incorporation; and
the board of directors authorises the acquisition and that the Company passed the solvency and liquidity test, as set out in
Section 4 of the Companies Act, and that since the solvency and liquidity test was performed there have been no material
changes to the financial position of the Company; and
in having regard to the terms of section 48 (2)(b) of the Companies Act, the board of a subsidiary Company may acquire
shares of its holding company on the further provisos that (i) not more than 10%, in aggregate, of the number of issued
shares of any class of shares of the Company may be held by, or for the benefit of, all of the subsidiary companies of the
Company taken together; and (ii) no voting rights attached to those shares may be exercised while the shares are held by
a subsidiary company of the Company whose shares it holds; and
in terms of section 48 (8)(b) of the Companies Act, the repurchase of any shares is subject to the requirements of sections
114 and 115 if, considered alone, or together with other transactions in an integrated series of transactions, it involves the
acquisition by the Company of more than 5% of the issued shares of any particular class of the Company’s shares; and
at any point in time, the Company and/or its subsidiaries may only appoint one agent to effect any such acquisition; and
the Company and/or its subsidiaries undertake that they will not enter the market to acquire the Company’s shares until the
Company’s sponsor has provided written confirmation to the JSE regarding the adequacy of the Company’s working
capital, in accordance with Schedule 25 of the JSE Listings Requirements; and
the Company and/or its subsidiaries do not acquire any shares during a prohibited period, as defined in the JSE Listings
Requirements, unless a repurchase programme is in place where dates and quantities of shares to be traded during the
prohibited period are fixed and full details of the programme have been disclosed in an announcement over the Securities
Exchange News Service (SENS) prior to the commencement of the prohibited period.

Explanatory Note:
The reason for and effect of this special resolution is to grant the Company and its subsidiaries a general authority to facilitate the
acquisition by the Company and/or its subsidiaries of the Company’s own shares, which general authority shall be valid until the
earlier of the next annual general meeting of the Company or the variation or revocation of such general authority by special
resolution at any subsequent general meeting of the Company, provided that this general authority shall not extend beyond 15
months from the date of the passing of this special resolution number 1.
Any decision by the directors, after considering the effect of an acquisition of up to 5% of the Company’s issued ordinary and/or
participating preference shares as the case may be, to use the general authority to acquire shares of the Company will be taken
after having regard to the prevailing market conditions and other factors and provided, after such acquisition, the directors are of
the opinion that:
-

the Company and its subsidiaries will be able to pay their debts in the ordinary course of business; and
the assets of the Company and its subsidiary companies exceed the liabilities of the Company and its subsidiary
companies as recognised and measured in accordance with the accounting policies used in the latest audited annual
group annual financial statements; and
the share capital and reserves of the Company and its subsidiaries will be adequate for the purposes of the business of the
Company and its subsidiaries; and
the working capital of the Company and its subsidiary companies is adequate for the purposes of the business of the
Company and its subsidiary companies for the period of 12 months after the date of the notice of the annual general
meeting. The Company will ensure that its Sponsor or Designated Advisor, as the case may be, will provide the necessary
letter on the adequacy of the working capital in terms of the JSE Listings Requirements prior to the commencement of any
purchase of the Company’s shares on the open market.
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The JSE Listings Requirements require, in terms of section 11.26, the following disclosures, which appear in this annual report:
-

Directors and management – refer to pages 2 to 11 of this annual report.
Major shareholders – refer to page 51 of this annual report.
Directors’ interests in securities – refer to page 18 of this annual report.
Share capital of the Company – refer to page 38 of this annual report.

Litigation statement
In terms of paragraph 11.26 of the JSE Listings Requirements, the directors whose names appear on page 1 of this annual report,
of which the notice of annual general meeting forms part, are not aware of any legal or arbitration proceedings that are pending or
threatened that may have or had in the recent past, being at least the previous 12 months, a material effect on the Company’s
financial position.
Directors’ responsibility statement
The directors, whose names appear on page 1 of this annual report, collectively and individually accept full responsibility for the
accuracy of the information pertaining to this special resolution and certify that, to the best of their knowledge and belief, there are
no facts that have been omitted which would make any statements false or misleading, and that all reasonable enquiries to
ascertain such facts have been made and that this special resolution contains all information required by law and the JSE Listings
Requirements.
Material changes
Other than the facts and developments reported in this annual report, there have been no material changes in the financial or
trading position of the Company since the date of signature of the audit report and up to the date of the notice of annual general
meeting. The directors have no specific intention, at present, for the Company to acquire any of its shares but consider that such
a general authority should be put in place should an opportunity present itself to do so during the year, which is in the best
interests of the Company and its shareholders.
The directors are of the opinion that it would be in the best interests of the Company to extend such general authority and thereby
allow the Company or any of its subsidiaries to be in a position to acquire the shares issued by the Company through the order
book of the JSE, should the market conditions, tax dispensation and price justify such an action.
The minimum number of votes that is required to pass special resolution 1 is a percentage equal to 75% (fifty percent) of the
voting rights that are present in person, or by proxy, at the meeting plus 1 (one) vote.
Special resolution number 2 – Once-Off Fees to Non-Executive Directors
“RESOLVED THAT, subject to the approval of 75% of the members present in person and by proxy and entitled to vote at the
meeting, a once-off fee payable to the non-executive directors for the financial period from 30 November 2010 to 28 February
2012 for services as directors be approved, as follows:
Director

Once Off Director’s Fees

KD Jarvis

R30 000-00

BA McQueen

R30 000-00

SP Tredoux

R30 000-00
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Special resolution number 3 – Non-Executive Directors’ remuneration
“RESOLVED THAT, subject to the approval of 75% of the members present in person and by proxy and entitled to vote at the
meeting, the remuneration payable to the non-executive directors for the financial year commencing 01 March 2012 be approved
as follows:

Monthly Retainer

Chairman

Members

R10 000-00

R10 000-00

The executive and non-executive directors have undertaken to receive low remuneration for the start-up period. Once full
production occurs, this remuneration will be reviewed.
Explanatory Note for Special Resolutions 2 and 3:
In terms of Section 66 (9) of the Companies Act, 2008 (No. 71 of 2008) (“the Companies Act”), shareholders are required to
approve the remuneration in relation to services of directors. Whilst SP Tredoux has held the title of Financial Director, he has not
been employed by the Company and is effectively a non-executive director. The Company was constituted as a cash shell and
did not require executive time or duties from its Financial Director.
Special resolution number 4 – General authority to enter into funding agreements, provide loans or other financial
assistance
“RESOLVED THAT, to the extent required by the Companies Act, the board of directors of the Company may, subject to
compliance with the requirements of the Company's Memorandum of Incorporation, the Companies Act and the JSE Listing
Requirements, each as presently constituted and as amended from time to time, authorise the Company to provide direct or
indirect financial assistance by way of loans, guarantees, the provision of security or otherwise to: 1) any of its present or future
subsidiary companies and/or any other company or corporation that is or becomes related or inter-related to the Company for any
purpose or in connection with any matter, including but not limited to the subscription of any option, or any securities, issued or to
be issued by the Company or a related or inter-related company, or for the purchase of any securities of the Company or a related
or inter-related company as contemplated in terms of section 44 of the Companies Act; 2) any of its present or future directors or
prescribed officers, and such authority is to endure for a period of 2 (two) years from the date on which this special resolution is
passed.”
Explanatory Note:
The reason for special resolution number 4 is to obtain approval from the shareholders to enable the Company to provide
financial assistance to group companies, when the need arises, in accordance with the provisions of Sections 44 and 45 of the
Companies Act. The effect of special resolution number 4 is that the Company will have the necessary authority, as and when
required.
The minimum number of votes that is required to pass special resolution 1 is a percentage equal to 75% (fifty percent) of the
voting rights that are present in person, or by proxy, at the meeting plus 1 (one) vote.
Voting and Proxies
Certificated shareholders and dematerialised shareholders with “own name” registration
If you are unable to attend the annual general meeting of Capricorn shareholders, to be held in the boardroom, Arcay House II
Boardroom, Number 3, Anerley Road, Parktown, Johannesburg, 2193 at 10:00 on Thursday, 5 April 2012, and wish to be
represented thereat, you should complete and return the attached form of proxy in accordance with the instructions contained
therein and lodge it with, or post it to, the transfer secretaries, Computershare Investor Services (Pty) Ltd, 70 Marshall Street,
Johannesburg 2001 (PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107) so as to be received by them by no later than 10h00 on Tuesday, 3
April 2012.
Dematerialised shareholders, other than those with “own name” registration
If you hold dematerialised shares in Capricorn through a CSDP or broker and do not have an “own name” registration, you must
timeously advise your CSDP or broker of your intention to attend and vote at the annual general meeting or be represented by
proxy thereat in order for your CSDP or broker to provide you with the necessary authorisation to do so, or should you not wish to
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attend the annual general meeting in person you must timeously provide your CSDP or broker with your voting instruction in order
for the CSDP or broker to vote in accordance with your instruction at the annual general meeting.
Each shareholder, whether present in person or represented by proxy, is entitled to attend and vote at the annual general
meeting. On a show of hands every shareholder who is present in person or by proxy shall have one vote, and on a poll every
shareholder present in person or by proxy shall have one vote for each share held by him/her.
A form of proxy (white) which sets out the relevant instructions for use is attached for those members who wish to be represented
at the annual general meeting of members. Duly completed forms of proxy must be lodged with the transfer secretaries of the
Company to be received by not later than 10h00 on Tuesday, 3 April 2012.
By order of the Board
Arcay Client Support (Pty) Ltd
(Registration Number 1998/025284/07)
Company Secretary
Date: 31 January 2012
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ABRIDGED CURRICULUM:
Charles Edward Pettit
Charles has extensive corporate finance experience in the United Kingdom, South Africa and Mauritius, which includes
acquisitions, disposals, IPO’s, fundraisings, BEE transactions and corporate restructurings. Since founding AfrAsia Corporate
Finance in June 2009, Charles has led the origination and execution activities of the team and has also led the sale of a minority
interest in the business to AfrAsia Bank in May 2010.
Charles graduated from the University of Cape Town with a First Class Honours degree in Finance. He subsequently qualified as
a CFA charter holder while working in corporate finance for Close Brothers in London.
Elaine Marsha Greenblatt
Elaine has experience in the retail sector as she worked in retail from 1982 to 1996 and ran her own business during that period.
Elaine was appointed to the board of directors of Capricorn as a non-executive director with effect from 30 November 2010. She
is also a member of the Combined Audit and Risk Committee and the Combined Remuneration and Nomination Committee.
Kenneth (“Ken”) Delroy Jarvis
Ken previously held the position of CIO at the South African Revenue Service (“SARS”) and was responsible for the turnaround of
SARS from 2002 to 2006. He started his working career in the mid-1970’s and spent a decade with IBM. During his career he
worked for a number of well-known companies, including Nedacom, Momentum Life, Nedcor Bank, Amplats, Multichoice and
SARS and his experience includes massive project rollouts, consolidation exercises and transformational initiatives.
Ken currently runs his own consulting company focusing on Executive mentoring and coaching as well as IT strategy and project
trouble shooting. He is also involved at a shareholder level in a number of start-up IT companies.
Ken is the Chairman of the Combined Audit and Risk Committee and a member of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee.
Brian Alexander McQueen
Brian has forty years of experience in sales and general management, gained primarily in the gas and telecommunications
industries and in particular with PABX telephony, radio paging and GSM cellular companies. Brian started his career as a
management trainee at Afrox in 1964 and progressed through the ranks to national contracts manager by 1985. He then moved
to Infotech in the role of software development manager until 1987 and fulfilled several roles at STC Business Communications
(Alcatel) from 1987 to 1995. In 1995 he joined Autopage Paging, where he was ultimately appointed as managing director of
Supercall, a subsidiary of Altech in 2002.
Brian is a member of the Combined Audit and Risk Committee and is the Chairman of the Combined Remuneration and
Nomination Committee.
James Charles Herbst
James is a CA with sound experience in corporate finance, corporate law, investment banking, and investment management.
After completing his articles with Coopers & Lybrand and the Chartered Financial Analyst programme, James worked for Fleming
Martin Private Asset Management where he managed full discretionary funds. He left in 2001 to start a private equity business
that later culminated in the listing of Level 4 IT Services with its subsequent acquisition of DataPro: now Vox Telecom. Having
completed his service contract with DataPro, James went on to pursue corporate finance and deal-making with the launch of
WRH Corporate Advisors. In July 2006 they acted as corporate advisors to Definity Telecom in the sale of Definity to Vox
Telecom, and in July 2007 acted as corporate advisors to TelePassport, which was reverse-listed into Huge Group. James was
appointed as financial director of Huge Group on the listing of the company on 8 August 2007 and was appointed as its CEO in
November 2008.
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Stephen (“Steve”) Peter Tredoux
Steve started his working career as an accountant but moved to general management where he worked in the property
management industry and manufacturing. He joined the information technology sector where he was employed by National Data
Systems as account director addressing all commercial and support issues for Nedbank. He subsequently joined MTN in 1995,
working there with the Service Providers, as well as investigating new routes to market, new product sets, and new ways of
communicating with customers. When MTN acquired M-Tel, Steve was appointed in an executive sales and advertising capacity.
He has considerable experience in sales distribution but is also a master at marketing and product development. Steve currently
chairs the Board of Huge Group Limited and pursues other entrepreneurial activities.
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1.

This form is for use by certificated shareholders and dematerialised shareholders with "own-name" registration, whose shares are
registered in their own names on the record date and who wishes to appoint another person to represent them at the meeting. If
duly authorised, companies and other corporate bodies who are shareholders, having shares registered in their own names, may
appoint a proxy using this form, or may appoint a representative in accordance with the last paragraph below.
Other shareholders should not use this form. All beneficial holders who have dematerialised their shares through a Central
Securities Depository Participant ("CSDP") or broker, and do not have their shares registered in their own name, must provide the
CSDP or broker with their voting instructions. Alternatively, if they wish to attend the meeting in person they should request the
CSDP or broker to provide them with a letter of representation in terms of the custody agreement entered into between the
beneficial owner and the CSDP or broker.

2.

This proxy form will not be effective at the meeting unless received by the transfer secretaries, Computershare Investor Services
(Pty) Ltd of 70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg 2001 (PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107), by not later than 10h00 on Tuesday, 3
April 2012.

3.

This proxy shall apply to all the ordinary shares registered in the name of shareholders at the record date unless a lesser number
of shares are recorded.

4.

A shareholder may appoint one person as his proxy by inserting the name of such proxy in the space provided. Such proxy need
not be a shareholder of the Company. If the name of the proxy is not inserted, the chairman of the meeting will be appointed as
proxy. If more than one name is inserted, then the person whose name appears first on the form of proxy and who is present at the
meeting will be entitled to act as proxy to the exclusion of any persons whose names follow. The proxy appointed in this proxy form
may delegate the authority given to him in this proxy by delivering to the Company, in the manner required by these instructions, a
further proxy form which has been completed in a manner consistent with the authority given to the proxy of this proxy form.

5.

Unless revoked, the appointment of proxy in terms of this proxy form remains valid until the end of the meeting even if the meeting
or a part thereof is postponed or adjourned.

6.

If
6.1
6.2
6.3
6.4

a shareholder does not indicate on this instrument that the proxy is to vote in favour of, or against, or to abstain from
voting on, any resolution; or
the shareholder gives contrary instructions in relation to any matter; or
any additional resolution/s which are properly put before the meeting; or
any resolution listed in the proxy form is modified or amended,

the proxy shall be entitled to vote or abstain from voting as he thinks fit in relation to that resolution or matter. If, however, the
shareholder has provided further written instructions which accompany this form and which indicate how the proxy should vote or
abstain from voting in any of the circumstances referred to in 6.1 to 6.4, then the proxy shall comply with those instructions.
7.

If this proxy is signed by a person (signatory) on behalf of the shareholder, whether in terms of a power of attorney or otherwise,
then this proxy form will not be effective unless:
7.1
7.2

it is accompanied by a certified copy of the authority given by the shareholder to the signatory; or
the Company has already received a certified copy of that authority.

8.

The chairman of the meeting may, at his discretion, accept or reject any proxy form or other written appointment of a proxy which
is received by the chairman prior to the time when the meeting deals with a resolution or matter to which the appointment of the
proxy relates, even if that appointment of a proxy has not been completed and/or received in accordance with these instructions.
However, the chairman shall not accept any such appointment of a proxy unless the chairman is satisfied that it reflects the
intention of the shareholder appointing the proxy.

9.

Any alterations made in this form of proxy must be initialled by the authorised signatory/ies.

10.

This proxy form is revoked if the shareholder who granted the proxy:
10.1
10.2
10.3

11.

delivers a copy of the revocation instrument to the Company and to the proxy or proxies concerned, so that it is received
by the Company by not later than 10h00 on Tuesday, 3 April 2012; or
appoints a later, inconsistent appointment of proxy for the meeting; or
attends the meeting in person.

If duly authorised, companies and other corporate bodies who are shareholders of the Company having shares registered in their
own name may, instead of completing this proxy form, appoint a representative to represent them and exercise all of their rights at
the meeting by giving written notice of the appointment of that representative. This notice will not be effective at the meeting unless
it is accompanied by a duly certified copy of the resolution/s or other authorities in terms of which that representative is appointed
and is received at the Company's transfer secretaries at 70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg 2001 (PO Box 61051, Marshalltown,
2107) by no later than 10h00 on the Tuesday, 3 April 2012.
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Summary of rights established by section 58 of the Companies Act, 71 of 2008 ("Companies Act"), as required in terms of
subsection 58(8)(b)(i)
1.

A shareholder may at any time appoint any individual, including a non-shareholder of the Company, as a proxy to participate in,
speak and vote at, a shareholders' meeting on his or her behalf (section 58(1)(a)), or to give or withhold consent on behalf of the
shareholder to a decision in terms of section 60 (shareholders acting other than at a meeting) (section 58(1)(b)).

2.

A proxy appointment must be in writing, dated, and signed by the shareholder, and remains valid for one year after the date on
which it was signed or any longer or shorter period expressly set out in the appointment, unless it is revoked in terms of
paragraph 6.3 or expires earlier in terms of paragraph 10.4 below (section 58(2)).

3.

A shareholder may appoint two or more persons concurrently as proxies and may appoint more than one proxy to exercise voting
rights attached to different securities held by the shareholder (section 58(3)(a)).

4.

A proxy may delegate his or her authority to act on behalf of the shareholder to another person, subject to any restriction set out in
the instrument appointing the proxy ("proxy instrument") (section 58(3)(b)).

5.

A copy of the proxy instrument must be delivered to the Company, or to any other person acting on behalf of the Company, before
the proxy exercises any rights of the shareholder at a shareholders' meeting (section 58(3)(c)) and in terms of the Memorandum of
Incorporation ("MOI") of the Company at least 48 hours before the meeting commences.

6.

Irrespective of the form of instrument used to appoint a proxy:
6.1
6.2
6.3

the appointment is suspended at any time to the extent that the shareholder chooses to act directly and in person in the
exercise of any rights as a shareholder (section 58)4)(a));
the appointment is revocable unless the proxy appointment expressly states otherwise (section 58(4)(b)); and
if the appointment is revocable, a shareholder may revoke the proxy appointment by cancelling it in writing or by making a
later, inconsistent appointment of a proxy, and delivering a copy of the revocation instrument to the proxy and to the
Company (section 58(4)(c)).

7.

The revocation of a proxy appointment constitutes a complete and final cancellation of the proxy's authority to act on behalf of the
shareholder as of the later of the date stated in the revocation instrument, if any, or the date on which the revocation instrument
was delivered as contemplated in paragraph 6.3 above (section 58(5)).

8.

If the proxy instrument has been delivered to the Company, and as long as that appointment remains in effect, any notice required
by the Companies Act or the Company's MOI to be delivered by the Company to the shareholder must be delivered by the
Company to the shareholder (section 58(6)(a)), or the proxy or proxies, if the shareholder has directed the Company to do so in
writing and paid any reasonable fee charged by the Company for doing so (section 58(6)(b)).

9.

A proxy is entitled to exercise, or abstain from exercising, any voting right of the shareholder without direction, except to the extent
that the MOI or proxy instrument provides otherwise (section 58(7)).

10.

If a Company issues an invitation to shareholders to appoint one or more persons named by the Company as a proxy, or supplies
a form of proxy instrument:
10.1

the invitation must be sent to every shareholder entitled to notice of the meeting at which the proxy is intended to be
exercised (section 58(8)(a));

10.2

the invitation or form of proxy instrument supplied by the Company must:
10.2.1
10.2.2
10.2.3

bear a reasonably prominent summary of the rights established in section 58 of the Companies Act
(section 58(8)(b)(i));
contain adequate blank space, immediately preceding the name(s) of any person(s) named in it, to enable a
shareholder to write the name, and if desired an alternative name of a proxy chosen by the shareholder
(section 58(8)(b)(ii)); and
provide adequate space for the shareholder to indicate whether the appointed proxy is to vote in favour of, or
against any, resolution(s) to be put at the meeting, or is to abstain from voting (section 58(8)(b)(iii));

10.3

the Company must not require that the proxy appointment be made irrevocable (section 58(8)(c)); and

10.4

the proxy appointment remains valid only until the end of the meeting at which it was intended to be used, subject to
paragraph 7 above (section 58(8)(d)).
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FORM OF PROXY (for use by certificated and “own name” dematerialised shareholders only)
For use by certificated and “own name” registered dematerialised shareholders of the Company (“shareholders”) at the annual general
meeting of Capricorn to be held at 10:00 on Thursday, 5 April 2012 at Arcay House II Boardroom, Number 3, Anerley Road, Parktown,
Johannesburg, 2193 (“the annual general meeting”).
I/We (please print)
of (address)
being the holder/s of						
(see note 1):

ordinary shares of R0.001 each in Capricorn, appoint

1. 

or failing him,

2. 

or failing him,

3. the chairperson of the annual general meeting,
as my/our proxy to act for me/us and on my/our behalf at the annual general meeting, which will be held for the purpose of considering,
and if deemed fit passing, with or without modification, the resolutions to be proposed thereat and at any adjournment thereof; and to vote
for and/or against the resolutions and/or abstain from voting in respect of the ordinary shares registered in my/our name/s, in accordance
with the following instructions (see note 2):
Number of ordinary shares
For
1.

Ordinary Resolution Number 1
Adoption of the Annual Financial Statements

2.

Ordinary Resolution Number 2
Appointment of a director - CE Pettit

3.

Ordinary Resolution Number 3
Appointment of a director - JC Herbst

4.

Ordinary Resolution Number 4
Appointment of a director - SP Tredoux

5.

Ordinary Resolution Number 5
Retirement of a director - EM Greenblatt

6.

Ordinary Resolution Number 6
Appointment and remuneration of an auditor - Horwath Leveton Boner

7.

Ordinary Resolution Number 7
Ratification of appointment of a member to the Combined Audit and Risk Committee KD Jarvis

8.

Ordinary Resolution Number 8
Ratification of appointment of a member to the Combined Audit and Risk Committee BA McQueen

9.

Ordinary Resolution Number 9
Ratification of appointment of a member to the Combined Audit and Risk Committee EM Greenblatt

10.

Ordinary Resolution Number 10
Approval of Remuneration Policy

11.

Ordinary Resolution Number 11
Placing unissued shares under the control of the directors

12.

Ordinary Resolution Number 12
General authority to allot and issue shares for cash

13.

Special Resolution Number 1
General authority to acquire (repurchase) shares

14.

Special Resolution Number 2
Once-off fees to Non-executive Directors

15.

Special Resolution Number 3
Non-executive Directors’ remuneration

16.

Special Resolution Number 4
General authority to enter into funding agreements, provide loans or other financial assistance

Signed at

on 

Signature							

Assisted by me (where applicable)

Against

Name					Capacity					Signature

Abstain

2012
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